UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 8-K

CURRENT REPORT

Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Date of Report (Date of earliest event reported): June 30, 2005

Tredegar Corporation (Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)

Virginia (State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation) 1-10258 (Commission File Number) 54-1497771 (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

1100 Boulders Parkway Richmond, Virginia (Address of Principal Executive Offices) 23225 (Zip Code)

Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (804) 330-1000

(Former Name or Former Address, if Changed Since Last Report)

Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of the registrant under any of the following provisions:

Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425)

Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12)

L Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b))

L Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c))

Item 1.01. Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement.

On June 30, 2005, Therics, Inc. ("Old Therics"), a wholly owned subsidiary of Tredegar Corporation ("Tredegar"), entered into a series of transactions pursuant to which Old Therics transferred ownership of substantially all of its assets and assigned substantially all of its intellectual property to a newly-created limited liability company, Therics, LLC ("New Therics"). In return, Old Therics received a 17.5% membership interest in New Therics and a 3.5% membership interest in Theken Spine, LLC ("Theken Spine"). Old Therics retained substantially all of its liabilities in the transaction. In addition, in connection with these transactions, Old Therics agreed to a payment arrangement with New Therics, pursuant to which Old Therics will receive between 2% and 10% on the net sales of New Therics products over the next 10 years where such sales incorporate the technology assigned as part of the transaction. New Therics and Theken Spine are entities separately controlled by Randall R. Theken, an individual who is not affiliated with Tredegar Corporation. New Therics and Theken Spine are treated as partnerships for income tax purposes.

Pursuant to these transactions, the parties have made customary representations and warranties to each other and agreed to indemnify each other for certain losses incurred by the other. Tredegar does not believe that its indemnity obligations will have a material adverse effect on its financial position or results of operations.

As further described in Note (a) to the accompanying pro forma financial statements, the transactions related to Old Therics are expected to result in a second-quarter charge of approximately \$10 million (\$6.5 million after taxes or 17 cents per share), including an asset impairment charge of approximately \$5.9 million (based on preliminary appraisals), a loss on a lease obligation retained by Old Therics of approximately \$3 million and severance and other transaction-related costs of approximately \$1.1 million. As part of the transaction, Old Therics terminated the employment of substantially all of its 31 employees.

On July 1, 2005, Tredegar issued a press release announcing the consummation of the transactions described above. A copy of the release is furnished as Exhibit 99.1 to this current report on Form 8-K and is incorporated herein by reference and provides additional details regarding the expenses, charges and impairments and the facts and circumstances leading thereto with respect to the transactions described above.

This summary is subject to and qualified in its entirety by reference to the text of the Transfer Agreement, the Intellectual Property Transfer Agreement, the Unit Purchase Agreement and the Payment Agreement, which are filed as Exhibits 10.17, 10.18, 10.19 and 10.20, respectively, to this Current Report on Form 8-K and are incorporated herein by reference.

Item 2.01. Completion of Acquisition or Disposition of Assets.

The information required by this item is included in Item 1.01 and incorporated herein by reference.

Item 2.05 Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.

The information required by this item is included in Item 1.01 and incorporated herein by reference.

Item 2.06 Material Impairments.

The information required by this item is included in Item 1.01 and incorporated herein by reference.

Item 9.01. Financial Statements and Exhibits.

(a) Financial statements of business acquired.

Not applicable.

(b) Pro forma financial information.

The unaudited pro forma financial information with respect to the transactions described in Item 1.01 set forth above and required by Item 9.01 of Current Report on Form 8-K is included on pages 4 through 6 below.

(c) Exhibits.

10.17 Transfer Agreement, by and between Old Therics and New Therics, dated as of June 30, 2005.

10.18 Intellectual Property Transfer Agreement, by and between Old Therics and New Therics, dated as of June 30, 2005.

10.19 Unit Purchase Agreement, by and between Old Therics, New Therics and Randall R. Theken, dated as of June 30, 2005.

10.20 Payment Agreement, by and between Old Therics and New Therics, dated as of June 30, 2005.

99.1 Press Release, dated July 1, 2005.

Tredegar Corporation Pro Forma Consolidated Balance Sheet March 31, 2005 (In Thousands, Except Per Share Data) (Unaudited)

	Tredegar Historical	Pro Forma Adjustments	Tredegar Pro Forma
Assets			
Current assets:			
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 25,572	\$ —	\$ 25,572
Accounts and notes receivable, net	125,489		125,489
Income taxes recoverable		1,484(a)	1,484
Inventories	63,974	(231)(a)	63,743
Deferred income taxes	9,440	1,437(a)	10,877
Prepaid expenses and other	4,318		4,318
Total current assets	228,793	2,690	231,483
Property, plant and equipment, at cost	623,402	(8,877)	614,525
Less accumulated depreciation	303,241	(6,633)	296,608
Net property, plant and equipment	320,161	(2,244)(a)	317,917
Other assets and deferred charges	89,555	970(a)	90,525
Goodwill and other intangibles	142,632	(4,385)(a)	138,247
Total assets	\$ 781,141	\$ (2,969)	\$ 778,172
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity Current liabilities: Accounts payable	\$ 62,573	\$ —	\$ 62,573
Accounts payable	36,258	4,105(a)	40,363
Income taxes payable	1,065	(1,065)(a)	40,303
Current portion of long-term debt	13,750	(1,005)(d) —	13,750
Total current liabilities	113,646	3,040	116,686
Long-term debt	104,167	_	104,167
Deferred income taxes	70,578	488(a)	71,066
Other noncurrent liabilities	10,902		10,902
Total liabilities	299,293	3,528	302,821
Shareholders' equity:			
Common stock, no par value	109,588		109,588
Common stock held in trust for savings			
restoration plan	(1,274)		(1,274)
Unearned compensation on restricted stock	(1,248)		(1,248)
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities	28		28
Foreign currency translation adjustment	16,625		16,625
Gain on derivative financial instruments	719		719
Minimum pension liability	(965)	—	(965)
Retained earnings	358,375	(6,497)(a)	351,878
Total shareholders' equity	481,848	(6,497)	475,351
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity	\$ 781,141	\$ (2,969)	\$ 778,172

See accompanying notes to pro forma financial statements.

Tredegar Corporation Pro Forma Consolidated Statements of Income For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2005 (In Thousands, Except Per Share Data) (Unaudited)

		redegar istorical	o Forma justments	redegar o Forma
Revenues:				
Sales	\$ 2	232,757	\$ (137)(b)	\$ 232,620
Other income (expense), net		2,560	(156)(c)	2,404
		235,317	 (293)	235,024
Costs and expenses:				
Cost of goods sold		198,352	(14)(b)	198,338
Freight		5,943	_	5,943
Selling, general and administrative		17,064	(627)(b)	16,437
Research and development		2,800	(1,319)(b)	1,481
Amortization of intangibles		106		106
Interest expense		963	_	963
Asset impairments and costs associated with exit and				
disposal activities		867	—	867
Total		226,095	 (1,960)	224,135
Income before income taxes		9,222	 1,667	 10,889
Income taxes		3,672	583(d)	4,255
Net income	\$	5,550	\$ 1,084	\$ 6,634
Earnings per share:				
Basic	\$.14	\$.03	\$.17
Diluted		.14	.03	.17
Shares used to compute earnings per share:				
Basic		38,440		38,440
Diluted		38,636		38,636
Dividends per share	\$.04		\$.04

See accompanying notes to pro forma financial statements.

Tredegar Corporation Pro Forma Consolidated Statements of Income For the Year Ended December 31, 2004 (In Thousands, Except Per Share Data) (Unaudited)

		edegar storical	o Forma ustments	`redegar ro Forma
Revenues:				
Sales	\$ 8	61,165	\$ (380)(b)	\$ 860,785
Other income (expense), net		15,604	(132)(c)	15,472
	8	376,769	(512)	876,257
Costs and expenses:				
Cost of goods sold	7	17,120	(66)(b)	717,054
Freight		22,398		22,398
Selling, general and administrative		60,030	(2,271)(b)	57,759
Research and development		15,265	(7,806)(b)	7,459
Amortization of intangibles		330		330
Interest expense		3,171		3,171
Asset impairments and costs associated with exit and				
disposal activities		22,973	(2,041)(b)	20,932
Total	8	41,287	 (12,184)	 829,103
Income before income taxes from continuing operations		35,482	 11,672	 47,154
Income taxes		9,222	4,085(d)	13,307
Income from continuing operations	\$	26,260	\$ 7,587	\$ 33,847
Earnings per share from continuing operations:				
Basic	\$.69	\$.20	\$.88
Diluted	\$.68	\$.20	\$.88
Shares used to compute earnings per share from continuing operations:				
Basic		38,295		38,295
Diluted		38,507		38,507
Dividends per share	\$.16		\$.16

See accompanying notes to pro forma financial statements.

Tredegar Corporation Notes To Pro Forma Financial Statements (Unaudited)

The unaudited pro forma financial statements of Tredegar Corporation ("Tredegar") included on pages 4 through 6 give effect to the transfer of control by Therics, Inc. ("Old Therics"), a wholly owned subsidiary of Tredegar, of substantially all of its assets and the assignment of substantially all of its intellectual property to a newly-created limited liability company, Therics, LLC ("New Therics").

On June 30, 2005, Old Therics entered into a series of transactions pursuant to which Old Therics transferred ownership of substantially all of its assets and assigned substantially all of its intellectual property to New Therics. In return, Old Therics received a 17.5% membership interest in New Therics and a 3.5% membership interest in Theken Spine. Old Therics retained substantially all of its liabilities in the transaction. In addition, in connection with these transactions, Old Therics agreed to a payment arrangement with New Therics, pursuant to which Old Therics will receive between 2% and 10% on the net sales of New Therics products over the next 10 years where such sales incorporate the technology assigned as part of the transaction. New Therics and Theken Spine are entities separately controlled by Randall R. Theken, an individual who is not affiliated with Tredegar Corporation. New Therics and Theken Spine are treated as partnerships for income tax purposes.

The unaudited pro forma balance sheet assumes the transactions related to Therics, Inc. described above occurred on March 31, 2005. Pro forma information is based upon the historical balance sheet data of Tredegar and Therics, Inc. as of that date. The unaudited pro forma statement of income gives effect to the transactions for the three months ended March 31, 2005 and the year ended December 31, 2004, as if they occurred on January 1, 2005 and January 1, 2005, respectively. The unaudited pro forma financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated historical financial statements and related notes included in Tredegar's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004, and its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three months ended March 31, 2005.

(a) Reflects pro forma adjustments for transactions related to Therics, Inc. affecting the balance sheet as summarized below:

(In thousands, except per-share amounts)

Estimated fair value of 17.5% interest in new Therics, LLC, a private company	¢	170
(preliminarily determined by independent appraisal)	\$	170
Estimated fair value of 3.5% interest in Theken Spine, LLC, a private company (preliminarily determined by independent appraisal)		800
Total estimated fair value of ownership interests received for substantially all of the assets of Therics, Inc.		970
Carrying value of substantially all of the assets of Therics, Inc.:		
Inventories		231
Net property, plant and equipment		2,244
Goodwill and other intangibles		4,385
Total		6,860
Estimated pretax loss on transfer of control of substantially all of the assets		
of Therics, Inc.		(5,890)
Estimated loss on lease obligation retained		(3,000)
Estimated loss on lease obligation retained Estimated severance (\$850) and other transaction-related costs		(1,105)
Estimated severance (\$850) and other transaction-related costs		(1,105)
Estimated pretax loss on transfer of control of substantially all of the assets		
of Therics, Inc. and other transaction-related losses		(9,995)
Income tax benefit (cost):		2 5 4 0
Current		2,549
Deferred		949
Total		3,498
Estimated aftertax loss on transfer of control of substantially all of the		
assets of Therics, Inc. and other transaction-related losses:		
Total	\$	(6,497)
10(a)	\$	(0,497)
Per diluted Tredegar common share	\$	(.17)
		. /

The charges reflected above are expected to be recognized by Tredegar in the second quarter of 2005 and have not been included in the pro forma statements of income due to their non-recurring nature.

(b) Reflects pro forma adjustments to eliminate the net sales and operating costs of Therics, Inc. that cease as a result of the transfer of substantially all of its assets to Therics, LLC. An individual that is not affiliated with Tredegar separately controls Therics, LLC and Theken Spine, LLC.

(c) Reflects pro forma adjustments to recognize income from the payment arrangement with Therics, LLC (10% of its net sales) and the application of the equity method of accounting to the 17.5% ownership interest in Therics, LLC. Equity method losses are limited to the carrying value of the investment in Therics, LLC (\$170,000) since Tredegar has no obligation or intent to fund any future losses. Historical net sales of Therics, Inc. were used to estimate the pro forma income from the payment arrangement (\$14,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2005 and \$38,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004). Historical operating losses of Therics, LLC, subject to the carrying value limitation. The 3.5% ownership interest in Theken Spine, LLC will be accounted for under the cost method, with an impairment loss recognized and a new cost basis established for any write-down to estimated fair value, if necessary.

(d) Reflects pro forma adjustments for income taxes accrued at 35%. Therics, LLC and Theken Spine, LLC are treated as partnerships for income tax purposes and therefore Tredegar will recognize its proportionate share of taxable income or loss in its consolidated U.S. income tax return.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

TREDEGAR CORPORATION

Date: July 1, 2005

By: /s/ D. Andrew Edwards

D. Andrew Edwards Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

EXECUTION COPY

Exhibit 10.17

TRANSFER AGREEMENT

BY AND BETWEEN

AFBS, INC.

AND

THERICS, LLC

June 30, 2005

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I	DEFINITIONS	1
1.1.	Accounts Receivable.	1
1.2.	AFBS.	1
1.3.	Agreement.	1
1.4.	Assumed Contracts.	1
1.5.	Books and Records.	2
1.6.	Business.	2
1.7.	Closing.	2
1.8.	Closing Date.	2
1.9.	Consents.	2
1.10.	Contracts.	2
1.11.	Contributed Assets.	2
1.12.	Effective Time.	3
1.13.	Equipment.	3
1.14.	Excluded Assets.	3
1.15.	Governmental Entity.	3
1.16.	Inventory.	3
1.17.	IP Transfer Agreement.	3
1.18.	Law or Laws.	3
1.19.	Liens.	4
1.20.	Permits.	4
1.21.	Post-Closing Liabilities.	4
1.22.	Retained Liabilities.	4
1.23.	Tax Return.	5
1.24.	Taxes.	5
1.25.	Therics.	5
1.26.	Unit Purchase Agreement.	5
ARTICLE II	TRANSFER	5
2.1.	Purchase and Sale; Assignment; Consideration.	5
2.2.	No Assumption of Retained Liabilities; Post-Closing Liabilities.	5
2.3.	Transfer Taxes.	6
2.4.	Permits.	6
ARTICLE III	MISCELLANEOUS	6
3.1.	Entire Agreement; Amendment.	6
3.2.	Governing Law.	6
3.3.	Notices.	6
3.4.	Counterparts; Headings.	7
3.5.	Binding Effect.	7
3.6.	Severability.	8
3.7.	Specific Performance.	8
3.8.	Invoices, Bills, Etc.	8

(i)

SCHEDULES

Schedule 1.4	Assumed Contracts
Schedule 1.9	Consents
Schedule 1.11	Contributed Assets
Schedule 1.13	Equipment
Schedule 1.14	Excluded Assets
Schedule 1.16	Inventory
Schedule 1.20	Permits

TRANSFER AGREEMENT

This TRANSFER AGREEMENT, effective as of June 30, 2005, by and between AFBS, INC., a Virginia corporation (f/k/a, "Therics, Inc.") ("*AFBS*"), and THERICS, LLC, an Ohio limited liability company ("*Therics*"), recites and provides as follows:

RECITALS

WHEREAS, AFBS owns the Contributed Assets (other than the Assumed Contracts) and is a party to the Assumed Contracts; and

WHEREAS, AFBS desires to contribute the Contributed Assets (other than the Assumed Contracts) to Therics and assign the Assumed Contracts to Therics, and in exchange therefor, Therics desires to accept the Contributed Assets (other than the Assumed Contracts) from AFBS and to assume the Assumed Contracts from AFBS, all on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein; and

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the Recitals and of the mutual covenants, conditions and agreements set forth herein and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, it hereby is agreed that:

AGREEMENT

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS

When used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings specified:

1.1. Accounts Receivable.

"Accounts Receivable" shall mean the accounts receivable, notes receivable, prepaid expenses, other rights to payment from customers of AFBS and associated rights of AFBS existing as of, or arising from the conduct of the business of AFBS prior to, the Effective Time.

1.2. <u>AFBS</u>.

"AFBS" shall have the meaning set forth in the Preamble hereof.

1.3. <u>Agreement</u>.

"Agreement" shall mean this Transfer Agreement, together with the Schedules attached hereto.

1.4. Assumed Contracts.

"Assumed Contracts" shall mean the Contracts of AFBS that are specifically listed on <u>Schedule 1.4</u> attached hereto.

1.5. Books and Records.

"Books and Records" shall mean the original copies of the books and records of AFBS that are specifically related to the Contributed Assets and that are in possession of AFBS, and all related documents, including, without limitation, all customer lists and records, referral sources, research and development reports and records, service and warranty records, equipment logs, operating guides and manuals, creative materials, advertising materials, promotional materials, studies, reports, correspondence and any other similar documents that are specifically related to the Contributed Assets.

1.6. Business.

"Business" shall mean the business and operations of AFBS as operated and conducted prior to and up through the Effective Time.

1.7. Closing.

"Closing" shall mean the conference held immediately following the execution of this Agreement, on the Closing Date, at the offices of Hunton & Williams LLP located in Richmond, Virginia at 951 East Byrd Street.

1.8. Closing Date.

"Closing Date" shall mean June 30, 2005.

1.9. Consents.

"Consents" shall mean all consents, approvals and waivers related to the Assumed Contracts required to be obtained in order to properly and legally assign or convey the same to Therics in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, such consents, approvals and waivers to be obtained by AFBS and each of which is listed on <u>Schedule 1.9</u> attached hereto.

1.10. Contracts.

"Contracts" shall mean all agreements, contracts, purchase orders, leases, licenses, relationships and commitments, written or oral, to which AFBS is a party or by which AFBS or its property is bound.

1.11. Contributed Assets.

"Contributed Assets" shall mean the Assumed Contracts, the Books and Records, the Equipment, the Inventory, the Permits (to the extent assignable) and those other assets of AFBS specifically identified on <u>Schedule 1.11</u> attached hereto; *provided, however*, that notwithstanding the foregoing, the Contributed Assets shall specifically exclude the Excluded Assets.

1.12. Effective Time.

"Effective Time" shall mean 11:57 p.m. (Eastern Daylight Time) on the Closing Date.

1.13. Equipment.

"Equipment" shall mean all of the tangible assets of AFBS including, without limitation, the tangible assets specifically listed on <u>Schedule 1.13</u> attached hereto.

1.14. Excluded Assets.

"Excluded Assets" shall mean all assets of AFBS other than the Contributed Assets, including, but not limited to: (i) all minute books, stock records and corporate seals of AFBS; (ii) all Contracts other than the Assumed Contracts; (iii) AFBS's rights under this Agreement and any other agreements or documents delivered in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby or by the Unit Purchase Agreement; (iv) cash and cash equivalents, (v) cash deposits and letters of credit in favor of AFBS; (vi) books and records relating primarily to the Excluded Assets and the Retained Liabilities, (vii) the Accounts Receivable, (viii) any and all rights to Tax refunds or credits or any claims for such refund or credits, (ix) all intellectual property assets, it being understood that certain intellectual property assets shall be transferred from AFBS to Therics pursuant to the IP Transfer Agreement and any and all goodwill associated with the intellectual property assets so transferred, (x) all insurance policies, and (xi) those other assets set forth on <u>Schedule 1.14</u> attached hereto.

1.15. Governmental Entity.

"Governmental Entity" shall mean any federal, state, local or foreign legislature, court, arbitral tribunal, administrative agency or commission or other governmental or other regulatory authority.

1.16. Inventory.

"Inventory" shall mean all the inventories of goods owned by AFBS and held for resale, all supplies held for use, whether by AFBS, its distributors or otherwise, in the ordinary course of the business of AFBS, and all work in process including, without limitation, the goods, supplies and work in process set forth on <u>Schedule 1.16</u> attached hereto.

1.17. IP Transfer Agreement.

"IP Transfer Agreement" shall mean the Intellectual Property Transfer Agreement contemplated to be entered into by and between AFBS and Therics immediately following the Effective Time on the date hereof.

1.18. Law or Laws.

"Law" shall mean any federal, state, local or other law or treaty or governmental requirement of any kind, and the rules, regulations and orders promulgated thereunder.

1.19. Liens.

"Liens" shall mean any encumbrance, mortgage, charge, claim, demand, restriction, pledge, security interest or imposition of any kind or nature.

1.20. Permits.

"Permits" shall mean all approvals, authorizations, registrations, permits and licenses issued by a Governmental Entity to or in the name of AFBS, each of which is listed on <u>Schedule 1.20</u> attached hereto.

1.21. Post-Closing Liabilities.

"Post-Closing Liabilities" shall mean all liabilities and obligations, whether such liabilities or obligations relate to payment, performance or otherwise, are matured or unmatured, are known or unknown, are contingent or non-contingent, are fixed or undetermined or are present, future or otherwise, which relate to the ownership, operation, use, sale, lease or licensing of the Contributed Assets by Therics after the Effective Time, including, but not limited to, all liabilities and obligations arising out of, or relating to, any act, occurrence, performance or other event occurring after the Effective Time under the Assumed Contracts (but excluding any liability or obligation arising out of or relating to any performance of or breach under the Assumed Contracts which occurred prior to the Effective Time).

1.22. Retained Liabilities.

"Retained Liabilities" shall mean all liabilities and obligations of AFBS and the Business including, without limitation, those relating to the use of the Contributed Assets prior to the Effective Time, whether such liabilities or obligations relate to payment, performance or otherwise, arise before or after the Effective Time, are matured or unmatured, are known or unknown, are contingent or non-contingent, are fixed or undetermined or are present, future or otherwise, including, without limitation, (a) all liabilities related to product liabilities claims for products processed or sold by AFBS, (b) any liability or obligation under any Assumed Contract which arises out of or relates to any act, occurrence, performance or other event thereunder occurring before the Effective Time or any breach thereof by AFBS, (c) any liability or obligation with respect to or arising out of the employment relationship between AFBS and its employees, including without limitation, those relating to (i) the employees' employment with AFBS, (ii) the employees' termination of employment with AFBS, and (iii) the employees' compensation, including, without limitation, any liability or obligation arising under or out of any stock option plan or employee benefit or compensation plan of AFBS or its shareholder, (d) any liability or obligation arising out of any legal proceeding against AFBS that is pending as of the Effective Time, (e) any liability or obligation arising out of or resulting from AFBS's noncompliance with any Law or any order, injunction, judgment, decree, ruling, assessment or arbitration award of any Governmental Entity, (f) any liability or obligation relating to any Taxes owed by AFBS, (g) any liability related to the Excluded Assets or the use of the Contributed Assets prior to the Effective Time, and (h) any liability or obligation of AFBS under this Agreement or any other document contemplated hereby.

1.23. Tax Return.

"Tax Return" shall mean any report, return, information statement, payee statement or other information required to be provided to any Governmental Entity, or otherwise retained, with respect to Taxes.

1.24. <u>Taxes</u>.

"Taxes" shall mean any federal, state, local or foreign taxes, charges, levies, imposts, duties, other assessments or similar charges of any kind whatsoever, including interest, penalties and additions imposed thereon or with respect thereto.

1.25. Therics.

"Therics" shall have the meaning set forth in the Preamble hereof.

1.26. Unit Purchase Agreement.

"Unit Purchase Agreement" shall mean the Unit Purchase Agreement by and between Randall R. Theken, an Ohio resident, Therics and AFBS, to be entered into effective immediately following the Effective Time on the date hereof.

ARTICLE II TRANSFER

2.1. Purchase and Sale; Assignment; Consideration.

(a) As of the Effective Time, and upon all of the terms and subject to all of the conditions of this Agreement, AFBS hereby (a) conveys, transfers and delivers to Therics, and Therics hereby accepts from AFBS, all of the Contributed Assets (other than the Assumed Contracts), free and clear of all Liens, and (b) assigns to Therics, and Therics hereby assumes from AFBS, the Assumed Contracts.

(b) In consideration of the transfer, assignment, conveyance and delivery of the Contributed Assets and the Assumed Contracts by AFBS, as of the Effective Time, Therics hereby (i) assumes the Assumed Contracts and (ii) issues to AFBS 1,000,000 of its Units, representing 100% of the membership interest of Therics.

2.2. <u>No Assumption of Retained Liabilities; Post-Closing Liabilities</u>.

Therics does not and will not assume any Retained Liabilities or any other liability of AFBS. All of the Retained Liabilities and other liabilities of AFBS shall remain the sole responsibility of and shall be retained, paid, performed and discharged solely by AFBS. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, all of the Post-Closing Liabilities shall be the sole responsibility of Therics.

2.3. <u>Transfer Taxes</u>.

Therics shall pay all transfer, sales, recording and similar Taxes arising in connection with the transactions contemplated hereunder, whether such Taxes are imposed on AFBS or Therics. The parties shall cooperate to comply with all Tax Return requirements for such Taxes and shall provide such documentation and take such other actions as may be necessary to minimize the amount of any such Taxes.

2.4. Permits.

At any time or from time to time after the Closing, AFBS shall execute and deliver to Therics such documents and instruments and provide such materials and information as Therics may reasonably request to assist Therics in the transfer of the Permits listed on <u>Schedule 1.20</u> attached hereto from AFBS to Therics or in the application by Therics for new permits or governmental approvals (with respect to those Permits which can not be assigned) necessary to utilize the Contributed Assets; *provided, however*; that in no event will AFBS be responsible for any costs associated with such transfer or application.

ARTICLE III MISCELLANEOUS

3.1. Entire Agreement; Amendment.

This Agreement and the documents referred to herein and to be delivered pursuant hereto (including the Unit Purchase Agreement and the IP Transfer Agreement) constitute the entire agreement between the parties pertaining to the subject matter hereof, and supersede all prior and contemporaneous agreements, understandings, negotiations and discussions of the parties, whether oral or written, and there are no warranties, representations or other agreements between the parties in connection with the subject matter hereof, except as specifically set forth herein or therein. No amendment, supplement, modification, waiver or termination of this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing by the party to be bound thereby. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement, whether or not similar, nor shall such waiver constitute a continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly provided.

3.2. <u>Governing Law</u>.

This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Ohio as applied to contracts entered into by Ohio residents and performed entirely in Ohio, without giving effect to its principles or rules regarding conflicts of laws, other than such principles directing application of the laws of Ohio.

3.3. Notices.

All communications, notices and disclosures required or permitted by this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given when delivered personally or by messenger or one business day after delivery by reliable overnight delivery service, or when mailed by registered or certified United States mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, or

when received via telecopy, telex or other electronic transmission, in all cases addressed to the party for which it is intended at its address set forth below or to such other address as a party shall have designated by notice in writing to the other party in the manner provided by this <u>Section 3.3</u>:

If to AFBS:	AFBS, Inc. c/o Tredegar Corporation Attention General Counsel 1100 Boulders Parkway Richmond, Virginia 23225 Facsimile: (804) 330-1010
With a copy (which shall	Hunton & Williams LLP
not constitute notice) to:	Attention: C. Porter Vaughan, III, Esq. and R. Mason Bayler, Jr., Esq.
	Riverfront Plaza, East Tower
	951 East Byrd Street
	Richmond, Virginia 23219-4074
	Facsimile: (804) 788-8218
If to Therics:	Therics, LLC
	Attention: Randall R. Theken
	283 East Waterloo Road
	Akron, Ohio 44319
	Facsimile: (330) 773-7697
With a copy (which shall	Stark & Knoll Co., L.P.A.
not constitute notice) to:	Attention: Aaron G. Lepp, Esq.
	76 South Main Street, Suite 1512
	Akron, Ohio 44308-1824
	Facsimile: (330) 376-6237

3.4. Counterparts; Headings.

This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same Agreement. The Table of Contents and Article and Section headings in this Agreement are inserted for convenience of reference only and shall not constitute a part hereof.

3.5. Binding Effect.

This Agreement is binding upon, inures to the benefit of and is enforceable by the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.

3.6. <u>Severability</u>.

If any provision, clause or part of this Agreement, or the application thereof under certain circumstances, is held invalid, the remainder of this Agreement, or the application of such provision, clause or part under other circumstances, shall not be affected thereby.

3.7. <u>Specific Performance</u>.

Therics and AFBS hereby agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with the terms hereof and that the parties shall be entitled to specific performance of the terms hereof, in addition to any other remedy at law or equity.

3.8. Invoices, Bills, Etc.

Any accounts payable of AFBS or Therics which relate to the Contributed Assets and which are due for goods or services received by AFBS or Therics both before and after the Effective Time shall be prorated. Any Taxes with respect to property that are assessed for periods beginning prior to and ending after the Effective Time shall be prorated. Each party agrees to pay to the other party any amounts received or reimburse any amounts owed, as the case may be, as a result of any such proration.

[Signature Page Follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each party hereto has caused this Transfer Agreement to be executed in its name and, as applicable, by a duly authorized officer as of the day and year first above written.

AFBS, INC.

By: /s/ W. Hildebrandt Surgner, Jr.

W. Hildebrandt Surgner, Jr. Vice President

THERICS, LLC

By: AFBS, Inc.

Its: Sole Member

By: /s/ W. Hildebrandt Surgner, Jr.

W. Hildebrandt Surgner, Jr. Vice President

EXECUTION COPY

Exhibit 10.18

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY TRANSFER AGREEMENT

BY AND BETWEEN

AFBS, INC.

AND

THERICS, LLC

June 30, 2005

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I	DEFINITIONS	1
1.1.	<u>AFBS.</u>	1
1.2.	Agreement.	1
1.3.	Assumed IP Contracts.	2
1.4.	Books and Records of IP.	2
1.5.	Business.	2
1.6.	<u>Closing.</u>	2
1.7.	Closing Date.	2
1.8.	Effective Time.	2
1.9.	Intellectual Property.	2
1.10.	<u>IP Assets.</u>	3
1.11.	<u>IP Consents.</u>	3
1.12.	Liens.	3
1.13.	Payment Agreement.	3
1.14.	Post-Closing IP Liabilities.	3
1.15.	Retained IP Liabilities.	4
1.16.	Tax Return.	4
1.17.	Taxes.	4
1.18.	Therics.	4
1.19.	Transfer Agreement.	4
1.20.	Unit Purchase Agreement.	5
	0	
ARTICLE II	TRANSFER	5
2.1.	Purchase and Sale; Assignment; Consideration.	5
2.2.	No Assumption of Retained IP Liabilities; Post-Closing IP Liabilities.	5
2.3.	Authorization to Record.	5
2.4.	Transfer Taxes.	6
ARTICLE III	<u>MISCELLANEOUS</u>	6
3.1.	Entire Agreement; Amendment.	6
3.2.	Governing Law.	7
3.3.	Notices.	7
3.4.	Counterparts; Headings.	8
3.5.	Binding Effect.	8
3.6.	Severability.	8
3.7.	Specific Performance.	8
SCHEDULES		
Schedule 1.3	Assumed IP Contracts	
Schedule 1.9	Intellectual Property	
Schedule 1.11	IP Consents	
EVHIDITO		
EXHIBITS Exhibit 2.1(b)	Payment Agreement	
LAMOIT 2.1(0)	r ayment Agreement	

(i)

Exhibit 2.3(c)	Assignment Documents
Exhibit 2.3(c)(1)	Assignment Of Inventions, Applications For Patent, And Letters Patent
Exhibit 2.3(c)(2)	Assignment of Inventions, Applications for Patent and letters Patent
Exhibit 2.3(c)(3)	Assignment and Acceptance of Trademark and Service Mark Rights
Exhibit 2.3(c)(4)	Assignment and Acceptance of Trademarks and Service Marks and Related Community
	Trademark Registrations
Exhibit 2.3(c)(5)	Assignment and Acceptance of Copyrights

(ii)

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY TRANSFER AGREEMENT

This INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY TRANSFER AGREEMENT, effective as of June 30, 2005, by and between AFBS, INC., a Virginia corporation, f/k/a Therics, Inc. ("*AFBS*"), and THERICS, LLC, an Ohio limited liability company ("*Therics*"), recites and provides as follows:

RECITALS

WHEREAS, AFBS desires to sell the IP Assets (other than the Assumed IP Contracts) to Therics and assign the Assumed IP Contracts to Therics, and in exchange therefor, Therics desires to purchase the IP Assets (other than the Assumed IP Contracts) from AFBS and to assume the Assumed IP Contracts from AFBS, all on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the Recitals and of the mutual covenants, conditions and agreements set forth herein and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, it hereby is agreed that:

AGREEMENT

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS

When used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings specified:

1.1. <u>AFBS</u>.

"AFBS" shall have the meaning set forth in the Preamble hereof.

1.2. Agreement.

"Agreement" shall mean this Intellectual Property Transfer Agreement, together with the Schedules and Exhibits attached hereto.

1.3. <u>Assumed IP Contracts</u>.

"Assumed IP Contracts" shall mean all of the agreements, contracts, licenses, relationships and commitments, written or oral of AFBS that are specifically listed on <u>Schedule 1.3</u> attached hereto, including all of the patent, trademark, copyright, trade secret or other rights arising out of the same.

1.4. Books and Records of IP.

"Books and Records of IP" shall mean the original copies of the books and records of AFBS that are specifically related to the IP Assets and that are in possession of AFBS.

(1)

1.5. Business

"Business" shall mean the business and operations of AFBS as operated and conducted prior to and up through the Effective Time.

1.6. <u>Closing</u>.

"Closing" shall mean the conference held immediately following the execution of this Agreement, on the Closing Date, at the Richmond, Virginia offices of Hunton & Williams LLP.

1.7. Closing Date.

"Closing Date" shall mean June 30, 2005.

1.8. <u>Effective Time</u>.

"Effective Time" shall mean 11:59 p.m. (Eastern Daylight Time) on the Closing Date.

1.9. Intellectual Property.

"Intellectual Property" shall mean all of the intangible property owned by AFBS solely or jointly with others, specifically including all patents, patent applications, inventions, trademarks (whether arising under common law or otherwise), trademark applications, trademark registrations, copyright applications, trademark applications, trademark registrations, copyright applications, trade secrets, know-how, and similar intangible property, together with all goodwill associated therewith and related to the Business, including, but not limited to, all properties identified on <u>Schedule 1.9</u> attached hereto.

1.10. <u>IP Assets</u>.

"IP Assets" shall mean the Assumed IP Contracts, the Books and Records of IP, the Intellectual Property, together with all goodwill, "going concern value" and similar intangibles associated with the Intellectual Property (to the extent such goodwill is not included in the foregoing or otherwise associated with the Business).

1.11. IP Consents.

"IP Consents" shall mean all consents, approvals and waivers related to the Assumed IP Contracts and the Intellectual Property required to be obtained in order to properly and legally assign or convey the same to Therics in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, such consents, approvals and waivers to be obtained by AFBS and each of which is listed on <u>Schedule 1.11</u> attached hereto.

1.12. Liens.

"Liens" shall mean any encumbrance, mortgage, charge, claim, demand, restriction, pledge, security interest or imposition of any kind or nature.

(2)

1.13. Payment Agreement.

"Payment Agreement" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(b).

1.14. Post-Closing IP Liabilities.

"Post-Closing IP Liabilities" shall mean all liabilities and obligations, whether such liabilities or obligations relate to payment, performance or otherwise, are matured or unmatured, are known or unknown, are contingent or non-contingent, are fixed or undetermined or are present, future or otherwise, that relate to the ownership, operation, use, sale, lease or licensing of the IP Assets by Therics after the Effective Time, including, but not limited to, all liabilities and obligations arising out of, or relating to any act, occurrence, performance or other event occurring after the Effective Time under the Assumed IP Contracts (but excluding any liability or obligation arising out of, or relating to the performance of or a breach under the Assumed IP Contracts which occurred prior to the Effective Time).

1.15. Retained IP Liabilities.

"Retained IP Liabilities" shall mean all liabilities and obligations of AFBS and the Business, including, without limitation, (i) those relating to the use of the IP Assets prior to the Effective Time, whether such liabilities or obligations relate to payment, performance or otherwise, arise before or after the Effective Time, are matured or unmatured, are known or unknown, are contingent or non-contingent, are fixed or undetermined or are present, future or otherwise, other than the Post-Closing IP Liabilities, and (ii) any liability or obligation under any Assumed IP Contract which arises out of or relates to any act, occurrence, performance or other event thereunder occurring before the Effective Time or any breach thereof by AFBS. Retained IP Liabilities, as defined above, shall specifically include any and all disputes, actions, challenges, lawsuits, claims, demands, arbitrations, and proceedings based on any conduct that constitutes the Business or the practice by Therics of this conduct, that impact or threaten to impact the Intellectual Property or the Assumed IP Contracts arising out of (i) ownership claims relating to those patent applications listed on Schedule 2.10 of the Unit Purchase Agreement for which Therics does not currently have executed assignments from all listed inventors, and (ii) infringement or validity claims based on the patent identified in Schedule 2.5 of the Unit Purchase Agreement or any reexamined version thereof.

1.16. <u>Tax Return</u>.

"Tax Return" shall mean any report, return, information statement, payee statement or other information required to be provided to any federal, state, local or foreign legislative, court, arbitral tribunal, administrative agency or commission or other governmental or regulatory authority.

1.17. <u>Taxes</u>.

"Taxes" shall mean any federal, state, local or foreign taxes, charges, levies, imposts, duties, other assessments or similar charges of any kind whatsoever, including interest, penalties and additions imposed thereon or with respect thereto.

(3)

1.18. <u>Therics</u>.

"Therics" shall have the meaning set forth in the Preamble hereof.

1.19. <u>Transfer Agreement</u>.

"Transfer Agreement" shall mean the Transfer Agreement by and between AFBS and Therics dated June 30, 2005.

1.20. Unit Purchase Agreement.

"Unit Purchase Agreement" shall mean the Unit Purchase Agreement by and between AFBS, Randall R. Theken and Therics dated June 30, 2005.

ARTICLE II TRANSFER

2.1. Purchase and Sale; Assignment; Consideration.

(a) As of the Effective Time, and upon all of the terms and subject to all of the conditions, representations, warranties, and indemnifications of this Agreement and the Unit Purchase Agreement, AFBS hereby (i) sells, conveys, transfers and delivers to Therics, and Therics hereby purchases and accepts from AFBS, all of the IP Assets (other than the Assumed IP Contracts), free and clear of all Liens, and (ii) assigns to Therics, and Therics hereby assumes from AFBS, the Assumed IP Contracts.

(b) In consideration of the sale, transfer, assignment, conveyance and delivery of the IP Assets and the Assumed IP Contracts by AFBS, as of the Effective Time, Therics will execute and deliver to AFBS the Payment Agreement in the form attached hereto as Exhibit 2.1(b) (the "Payment Agreement").

2.2. No Assumption of Retained IP Liabilities; Post-Closing IP Liabilities.

Therics does not and will not assume any Retained IP Liabilities hereunder or any other liability of AFBS. All of the Retained IP Liabilities and other liabilities of AFBS shall remain the sole responsibility of and shall be retained, paid, performed, satisfied and discharged solely by AFBS. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, all of the Post-Closing IP Liabilities shall be the sole responsibility of Therics.

2.3. <u>Authorization to Record</u>.

(a) Therics shall pay all fees and expenses related to the recordation of the assignment of the Intellectual Property contemplated herein. AFBS shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate with Therics in connection with Therics' effort to record such assignments, including performing all tasks, executing all documentation reasonably necessary, and having its employees and agents perform all tasks and execute all documentation reasonably necessary to Therics in achieving accurate and comprehensive legal recording of the Intellectual Property in Therics' name. AFBS agrees that this Agreement shall be deemed a full legal and

(4)

formal equivalent of any assignment, consent to file, or like document that may be required in any country for any purpose regarding the subject matter hereof, as well as constituting proof of the right of Therics or its successors, assigns, or nominees to apply for patent, copyright, trademark, or design, or other protection for the Intellectual Property.

(b) To facilitate recordation of the assignment of Intellectual Property, AFBS shall deliver to Therics, at the Closing, a certificate of change of name demonstrating that, effective as of June 30, 2005, Therics, Inc. changed its corporate name to AFBS, Inc.

(c) To facilitate recordation of the assignment of Intellectual Property, AFBS shall, at the Closing, execute the Assignment documents attached hereto as Exhibit 2.3(c).

2.4. <u>Transfer Taxes</u>.

Therics shall pay all transfer, sales, recording and similar Taxes arising in connection with the transactions contemplated hereunder, whether such Taxes are imposed on AFBS or Therics. The parties shall cooperate to comply with all Tax Return requirements for such Taxes and shall provide such documentation and take such other actions as may be necessary to minimize the amount of any such Taxes.

ARTICLE III MISCELLANEOUS

3.1. Entire Agreement; Amendment.

This Agreement and the documents referred to herein and to be delivered pursuant hereto (including the Unit Purchase Agreement and the Transfer Agreement) constitute the entire agreement between the parties pertaining to the subject matter hereof, and supersede all prior and contemporaneous agreements, understandings, negotiations and discussions of the parties, whether oral or written, and there are no warranties, representations or other agreements between the parties in connection with the subject matter hereof, except as specifically set forth herein or therein. No amendment, supplement, modification, waiver or termination of this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing by the party to be bound thereby. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement, whether or not similar, nor shall such waiver constitute a continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly provided.

3.2. <u>Governing Law</u>.

This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Ohio as applied to contracts entered into by Ohio residents and performed entirely in Ohio, without giving effect to its principles or rules regarding conflicts of laws, other than such principles directing application of the laws of Ohio.

3.3. Notices.

All communications, notices and disclosures required or permitted by this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given when delivered personally or by messenger or one business day after delivery by reliable overnight delivery service, or when mailed by registered or certified United States mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, or when received via telecopy, telex or other electronic transmission, in all cases addressed to the person for whom it is intended at its or his address set forth below or to such other address as a party shall have designated by notice in writing to the other party in the manner provided by this <u>Section 3.3</u>:

If to AFBS:	AFBS, Inc. c/o Tredegar Corporation Attention: General Counsel 1100 Boulders Parkway Richmond, Virginia 23225 Facsimile: (804) 330-1010
With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:	Hunton & Williams LLP Attention: C. Porter Vaughan, III, Esq. and R. Mason Bayler, Jr., Esq. Riverfront Plaza, East Tower 951 East Byrd Street Richmond, Virginia 23219-4074 Facsimile: (804) 788-8218
If to Therics:	Therics, LLC Attention: Randall R. Theken 283 East Waterloo Road Akron, Ohio 44319 Facsimile: (330) 773-7697
With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:	Stark & Knoll Co., L.P.A. Attention: Aaron G. Lepp, Esq. 76 South Main Street, Suite 1512 Akron, Ohio 44308-1824 Facsimile: (330) 376-6237

3.4. Counterparts; Headings.

This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same Agreement. The Table of Contents and Article and Section headings in this Agreement are inserted for convenience of reference only and shall not constitute a part hereof.

3.5. Binding Effect.

This Agreement is binding upon, inures to the benefit of and is enforceable by the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.

(6)

3.6. <u>Severability</u>.

If any provision, clause or part of this Agreement, or the application thereof under certain circumstances, is held invalid, the remainder of this Agreement, or the application of such provision, clause or part under other circumstances, shall not be affected thereby.

3.7. <u>Specific Performance</u>.

Therics and AFBS hereby agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with the terms hereof and that the parties shall be entitled to specific performance of the terms hereof, in addition to any other remedy at law or equity.

[Signature Page Follows]

(7)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each party hereto has caused this Intellectual Property Transfer Agreement to be executed in its name and, as applicable, by a duly authorized officer as of the day and year first above written.

AFBS, INC.

By: /s/ W. Hildebrandt Surgner, Jr.

W. Hildebrandt Surgner, Jr. Vice President

THERICS, LLC By: Theken Orthopaedic Inc. Its: Manager

By: /s/ Randall R. Theken

Randall R. Theken President

(8)

EXECUTION COPY

Exhibit 10.19

UNIT PURCHASE AGREEMENT

BY AND AMONG

AFBS, INC.,

THERICS, LLC

AND

RANDALL R. THEKEN

DATED AS OF JUNE 30, 2005

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I	AGREEMENT TO SELL AND PURCHASE UNITS; CLOSING	2
1.1	Agreement To Sell and Purchase Units.	2
1.2	Closing, Delivery And Payment.	2
ARTICLE II	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF AFBS	2
2.1	Organization of AFBS and Therics.	2
2.2	Authority; Enforceability.	2
2.3	No Violation or Conflict.	3
2.4	Title and Capitalization.	3
2.5	No Litigation.	4
2.6	Contracts.	4
2.7	Condition of Equipment.	4
2.8	Compliance with Law.	4
2.9	Taxes.	5
2.10	Intellectual Property.	5
2.11	Permits.	7
2.12	Inventory.	7
2.13	Product Liability.	7
2.14	No Untrue Statement.	7
ARTICLE III	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF RRT	7
ARTICLE III 3.1	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF RRT Organization of TS.	7 7
3.1	Organization of TS.	7
3.1 3.2	<u>Organization of TS.</u> <u>Authority; Enforceability.</u> <u>No Violation or Conflict.</u>	7 8 8
3.1 3.2 3.3	Organization of TS. Authority; Enforceability. No Violation or Conflict. No Litigation.	7 8 8 8
3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5	Organization of TS. Authority; Enforceability. No Violation or Conflict. No Litigation. Financial Statements.	7 8 8
3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4	Organization of TS. Authority; Enforceability. No Violation or Conflict. No Litigation.	7 8 8 8 8 8
3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.7	Organization of TS. Authority; Enforceability. No Violation or Conflict. No Litigation. Financial Statements. Compliance with Law. Taxes.	7 8 8 8 8 9 9
3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.7 3.8	Organization of TS. Authority; Enforceability. No Violation or Conflict. No Litigation. Financial Statements. Compliance with Law. Taxes. Affiliated Transactions.	7 8 8 8 8 9 9 9
3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.7 3.8 3.9	Organization of TS. Authority; Enforceability. No Violation or Conflict. No Litigation. Financial Statements. Compliance with Law. Taxes. Affiliated Transactions. Intellectual Property.	7 8 8 8 8 9 9 9 9 9
3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.7 3.8 3.9 3.10	Organization of TS. Authority; Enforceability. No Violation or Conflict. No Litigation. Financial Statements. Compliance with Law. Taxes. Affiliated Transactions. Intellectual Property. No Material Adverse Change.	7 8 8 8 8 9 9 9 9 9 10 11
3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.7 3.8 3.9 3.10 3.11	Organization of TS. Authority; Enforceability. No Violation or Conflict. No Litigation. Financial Statements. Compliance with Law. Taxes. Affiliated Transactions. Intellectual Property. No Material Adverse Change. Title; Capitalization.	7 8 8 8 8 9 9 9 9 9 10 11 11
3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.7 3.8 3.9 3.10	Organization of TS. Authority; Enforceability. No Violation or Conflict. No Litigation. Financial Statements. Compliance with Law. Taxes. Affiliated Transactions. Intellectual Property. No Material Adverse Change.	7 8 8 8 8 9 9 9 9 9 10 11
3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.7 3.8 3.9 3.10 3.11 3.12	Organization of TS. Authority; Enforceability. No Violation or Conflict. No Litigation. Financial Statements. Compliance with Law. Taxes. Affiliated Transactions. Intellectual Property. No Material Adverse Change. Title; Capitalization. Agreements; Action.	7 8 8 8 8 9 9 9 9 9 10 11 11 11 12
3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.7 3.8 3.9 3.10 3.11 3.12 3.13 ARTICLE IV	Organization of TS. Authority; Enforceability. No Violation or Conflict. No Litigation. Financial Statements. Compliance with Law. Taxes. Affiliated Transactions. Intellectual Property. No Material Adverse Change. Title; Capitalization. Agreements; Action. Insurance.	7 8 8 8 8 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 10 11 11 12 12
3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.7 3.8 3.9 3.10 3.11 3.12 3.13	Organization of TS. Authority; Enforceability. No Violation or Conflict. No Litigation. Financial Statements. Compliance with Law. Taxes. Affiliated Transactions. Intellectual Property. No Material Adverse Change. Title; Capitalization. Agreements; Action. Insurance.	7 8 8 8 8 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 10 11 11 11 12 12

i

4.4	Employee Matters.	13
4.5	Transfer Taxes.	13
4.6	Income Tax Treatment of Transactions.	13
4.7	Put Right.	13
ARTICLE V	<u>SURVIVAL OF REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES;</u> INDEMNIFICATION	14
5.1	Survival of Representations and Warranties.	14
5.2	Indemnification.	15
5.3	Third-Party Claim Indemnification Procedures.	16
5.4	Exclusive Remedy.	10
5.5	Allocation of Adjusted Annual License Maintenance Fee.	17
5.6	Delivery of Certain Information.	17
ARTICLE VI	MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS	17
6.1	Notices.	17
6.2	Amendment.	18
6.3	Entire Agreement.	18
6.4	Waiver.	18
6.5	Third-Party Beneficiaries.	19
6.6	No Assignment; Binding Effect.	19
6.7	Headings.	19
6.8	Invalid Provisions.	19
6.9	Governing Law.	19
6.10	WAIVER OF TRIAL BY JURY.	19
6.11	Construction.	19
6.12	Counterparts.	20
6.13	Specific Performance.	20
ARTICLE VII	DEFINITIONS	20
7.1	Definitions.	20
7.2	Construction.	24

EXHIBITS

Exhibit A	Transfer Agreement
Exhibit B	Operating Agreement
Exhibit C	Sublease Agreement
Exhibit D	IP Transfer Agreement
Exhibit E	Payment Agreement

ii

SCHEDULES

Schedule 2.3	No Violation or Conflict
Schedule 2.5	No Litigation
Schedule 2.6	Contracts
Schedule 2.7	Condition of Equipment
Schedule 2.10	Intellectual Property
Schedule 3.4	No Litigation
Schedule 3.5	Financial Statements
Schedule 3.6	Compliance with Law
Schedule 3.7	Taxes
Schedule 3.8	Affiliated Transactions
Schedule 3.9	TS Intellectual Property
Schedule 3.10	No Material Adverse Change
Seneaale 5.6	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

UNIT PURCHASE AGREEMENT

This UNIT PURCHASE AGREEMENT, effective as of June 30, 2005, is made by and among AFBS, INC., a Virginia corporation (f/k/a "Therics, Inc.") ("*AFBS*"), THERICS, LLC, an Ohio limited liability company, (*"Therics"*) and RANDALL R. THEKEN, a resident of the State of Ohio ("*RRT*").

RECITALS

WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms of the Transfer Agreement dated June 30, 2005, by and between AFBS and Therics, and attached hereto as Exhibit A (the "*Transfer Agreement*"), AFBS has contributed, conveyed, transferred, assigned and delivered to Therics, and Therics has accepted and assumed from AFBS, the Contributed Assets in exchange for 1,000,000 common units of Therics, representing 100% of the membership interest of Therics.

WHEREAS, RRT wishes to purchase and acquire from AFBS, and AFBS wishes to transfer and sell to RRT, 825,000 of its outstanding common units (the "*Purchased Units*"), representing 82.5% of the membership interest of Therics, in exchange for 36,411.305 class A units (the "*TS Interest*") of Theken Spine, LLC, an Ohio limited liability company ("*TS*"), representing 3.5% of the outstanding membership interest of TS.

WHEREAS, simultaneously with the execution of this Agreement, (i) RRT and AFBS are executing and delivering the Operating Agreement of Therics in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B (the "Operating Agreement"), (ii) AFBS and Therics are executing and delivering the Sublease in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C (the "Sublease"), and (iii) AFBS will execute and deliver all documents necessary for it to become a member of TS and a party to the TS Operating Agreement, including, without limitation, a counterpart signature page and/or an instrument of accession.

WHEREAS, pursuant to terms of the Intellectual Property Transfer Agreement to be entered into by and between AFBS and Therics immediately following the Closing in the form attached hereto as Exhibit D (the "*IP Transfer Agreement*"), AFBS will sell, convey, transfer, assign and deliver to Therics, and Therics will purchase, accept and assume from AFBS, the IP Assets in exchange for the rights and benefits provided under the Payment Agreement to be entered into by and between AFBS and Therics immediately following the Closing in the form attached hereto as Exhibit E (the "*Payment Agreement*").

WHEREAS, Therics and TS will enter into a mutually agreeable Distribution Agreement (the "*Distribution Agreement*") following the Closing.

AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the Recitals, covenants, representations and warranties set forth herein, intending to be legally bound hereby, the parties agree as follows:

ARTICLE I AGREEMENT TO SELL AND PURCHASE UNITS; CLOSING

1.1 Agreement To Sell and Purchase Units.

Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, at the Closing, AFBS will sell, assign and transfer to RRT, and RRT will purchase from AFBS, the Purchased Units free and clear of all Liens, and, in consideration therefor, RRT shall sell, assign and transfer to AFBS, and AFBS will purchase from RRT, the TS Interest free and clear of all Liens. The parties hereto agree that the fair market value of the Purchased Units and of the TS Interest each is \$800,000.

1.2 Closing, Delivery And Payment.

(a) <u>Closing</u>. The closing of the transactions contemplated hereby (the "*Closing*") shall take place immediately upon execution of this Agreement on the date hereof at 11:58 p.m. (Eastern Daylight Time) (the "*Closing Date*") at the offices of Hunton & Williams LLP located in Richmond, Virginia at 951 East Byrd Street.

(b) <u>Delivery</u>. At the Closing, (i) AFBS will deliver to RRT certificate(s) representing the Purchased Units, against delivery of instruments of transfer duly executed and endorsed in blank, (ii) RRT will deliver to AFBS certificate(s) representing the TS Interest, against delivery of instruments of transfer duly executed and endorsed in blank, (iii) RRT and AFBS will execute and deliver the Operating Agreement, (iv) AFBS and Therics will execute and deliver the Sublease, and (v) AFBS will execute and deliver all documents necessary for it to become a member of TS and a party to the T S Operating Agreement, including, without limitation, a counterpart signature page and/or an instrument of accession.

ARTICLE II REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF AFBS

AFBS represents and warrants to Therics and RRT at the Closing as follows:

2.1 Organization of AFBS and Therics.

(a) <u>AFBS</u>. AFBS is a corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia.

(b) <u>Therics</u>. Therics is a limited liability company duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the State of Ohio and a wholly owned subsidiary of AFBS. Prior to the entering into of this Agreement, the Transfer Agreement and the IP Transfer Agreement, Therics had no assets or liabilities and had no business operations or relations of any kind.

2.2 <u>Authority; Enforceability</u>. The execution and delivery by AFBS of this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements to which it is a party and the consummation by AFBS of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary corporate action of AFBS. AFBS has full power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements to which it is a party, to perform its obligations

hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. This Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements to which AFBS is a party are legal, valid and binding obligations of AFBS, enforceable against it in accordance with their respective terms, except as the enforceability thereof may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance, reorganization, moratorium or other similar Laws relating to the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and by general principles of equity (whether considered at law or in equity).

23 No Violation or Conflict. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.3, the execution, delivery and performance by AFBS of this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements to which AFBS is a party do not and will not conflict with or violate any Law, judgment, order or decree binding on AFBS, the articles of incorporation or bylaws of AFBS or any of the Assumed Contracts or Assumed IP Contracts, or (b) result in any party to any Assumed Contract or Assumed IP Contract having a right of cancellation or termination thereof or right to exercise any option thereunder, or (c) result in the breach of any term or provision of, or constitute a default under, or result in the acceleration of or entitle any party to accelerate (whether after the giving of notice or the lapse of time or both) any obligation under, or result in the creation or imposition of any Lien upon any part of the Contributed Assets or the IP Assets pursuant to any provision of, any order, Lien, contract or instrument to which AFBS is a party or by which it is bound. Except with respect to the Consents and the IP Consents, all of which have been obtained by AFBS and other than notices that may need to be provided under certain of the Permits following the Closing, no notice to or consent or approval of any other Person, and no notice to, filing or registration with, or authorization, consent or approval of, any Governmental Entity is necessary or is required to be made or obtained by AFBS in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated in this Agreement or the Ancillary Agreements.

2.4 <u>Title and Capitalization</u>.

(a) Therics owns good and valid title to the Contributed Assets (other than the Assumed Contracts) free and clear of any and all Liens, and, after acquiring the IP Assets, will own good and valid title to the IP Assets (other than the Assumed IP Contracts), free and clear of any and all Liens.

(b) Immediately prior to the Closing, AFBS will own of record and beneficially 1,000,000 Units of Therics and the same constitute all of the issued and outstanding membership interest in Therics. AFBS has good and valid title to the Purchased Units, free and clear of any Liens. The capitalization of Therics immediately following the Closing shall be as follows: (i) RRT will own 825,000 Units constituting 82.5% of all issued and outstanding membership interest of Therics; and (ii) AFBS will own 175,000 Units constituting 17.5% of all issued and outstanding membership interest of Therics. All of the issued and outstanding membership interests of Therics are validly issued, fully-paid and nonassessable, and have not been issued in violation of any federal or state securities Laws. Except as set forth in the Operating Agreement, no membership interests of Therics have been issued subject to a repurchase option, put or buy back agreement on the part of AFBS.

(c) Except as contemplated herein or as contemplated in the Company appreciation rights plan to be approved in connection with the Operating Agreement, there are no

outstanding options, warrants, rights (including unit appreciation, phantom unit, profit participation, conversion and preemptive rights and rights of first refusal) or agreements for the purchase or acquisition from AFBS of any membership interests in Therics or any pledge or encumbrance on any such membership interests. Except as set forth in the Operating Agreement, AFBS is not a party or subject to any agreement, arrangement, or understanding, and there is no agreement, arrangement or understanding between or among any Persons, which affects, restricts or relates to voting, giving of written consents, dividend rights or transferability of membership interests of Therics, including any voting trust agreement or proxy.

2.5 <u>No Litigation</u>. Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 2.5</u>, there is no litigation, arbitration proceeding, order, governmental or internal investigation, citation or action of any kind pending or, to the Knowledge of AFBS, proposed or threatened (a) against AFBS or Therics, (b) relating to the Contributed Assets, the IP Assets, the Purchased Units, or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, or (c) that seeks restraint, prohibition, damages or other relief in connection with this Agreement or the Ancillary Agreements or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby and, to the Knowledge of AFBS, no event has occurred or circumstance exists that may give rise to or serve as a basis for the commencement of any such action.

2.6 Contracts. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.6, each Assumed Contract and Assumed IP Contract is in full force and effect and is enforceable in accordance with its terms (except as enforceability thereof may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance, reorganization, moratorium or similar Laws relating to the enforcement of creditors' rights and by generally affecting the rights and principles of equity (whether considered at law or in equity)). Except as set forth on Schedule 2.6, AFBS has performed each material term, covenant and condition of each of the Assumed Contracts and Assumed IP Contracts that was to be performed by it at or before the Effective Time and, to the Knowledge of AFBS, each other party to an Assumed Contract and Assumed IP Contract has not breached any material term, covenant or condition of each of the Assumed Contracts or Assumed IP Contracts that is to be performed by it at or before the Effective Time. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.6 or as contemplated by the Transfer Agreement or the IP Transfer Agreement, AFBS has made no prior assignment of the Assumed Contracts or Assumed IP Contracts or any of its rights or obligations thereunder. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.6, with respect to each Assumed Contract and Assumed IP Contract, to the Knowledge of AFBS: (i) there exists no event, occurrence, condition or act which, with the giving of notice, the lapse of time, or both, or the happening of any other event or condition, would become a default by AFBS; (ii) AFBS has not received any notice claiming that it has committed any such default or breach or indicating the desire or intention of any party thereto to amend, modify, rescind or terminate the same; and (iii) all Assumed Contracts and Assumed IP Contracts are capable of assignment to Therics without notice to or consent of any other Person, and shall be fully and completely assigned and transferred to Therics at the Closing.

2.7 <u>Condition of Equipment</u>. Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 2.7</u>, the Equipment is in good operating condition and repair, subject to ordinary wear and tear and non-use, and is fit for use in accordance with AFBS's past practices.

2.8 <u>Compliance with Law</u>. No investigation or review by any Governmental Entity with respect to AFBS's ownership or use of the Contributed Assets or the IP Assets is pending

or, to the Knowledge of AFBS, threatened and no Governmental Entity has indicated to AFBS in writing an intention to conduct such investigation or review.

2.9 <u>Taxes</u>. AFBS has filed all required Tax Returns relating to the Business and to its ownership or use of the Contributed Assets and the IP Assets. All such Tax Returns are correct in all material respects. Except for property Taxes not due and payable, there are no unpaid Taxes for which AFBS is liable, the non-payment of which is or could become a Lien upon, or otherwise could materially adversely affect, any of the Contributed Assets or the IP Assets or the use thereof or could cause Therics to incur any liability. No taxing authority has asserted any claim against AFBS for the assessment of any such Tax. There is no current or pending audit of any Tax Return filed by AFBS, including, without limitation, those filed with respect to the Contributed Assets or the IP Assets. All Taxes that AFBS has been required by Law to withhold or collect have been duly withheld and collected and have been timely paid to the proper Governmental Entity or are properly held by AFBS for such payment.

2.10 Intellectual Property.

(a) Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 2.10</u>, after acquiring the IP Assets, Therics will be the sole and exclusive owner of all the Intellectual Property, or have a valid license to use the Assumed IP Contracts, free and clear of all Liens. There are no outstanding Liens, third party rights, agreements, or understandings of any kind, either written, oral, or implied, regarding the Intellectual Property that are inconsistent or in conflict with any provision of this Agreement.

(b) To the Knowledge of AFBS, no third party is engaging in conduct which conflicts with or infringes in any material way the Intellectual Property. To the Knowledge of AFBS, the use of the Intellectual Property as of the Effective Time does not conflict with or infringe (and the use of the Intellectual Property prior to the Effective Time has not and will not conflict with or infringe) any Proprietary Right of any third party, and, except as set forth on <u>Schedule 2.10</u>, there is no claim, suit, action or proceeding pending or, to the Knowledge of AFBS, threatened against AFBS or any AFBS-Related Party (i) alleging any such conflict or infringement with any third party's Proprietary Rights, or (ii) challenging the ownership, use, validity or enforceability of the Intellectual Property.

(c) AFBS has not granted or executed, and, to the Knowledge of AFBS, there are not outstanding, any options, licenses, contracts, agreements or understandings of any kind relating to the Intellectual Property, nor is either AFBS or Therics or any AFBS-Related Party bound by or a party to any option, license, contract, agreement or understandings of any kind with respect to any of the Intellectual Property, except as contemplated by the Assumed IP Contracts or set forth on Schedule 2.10. Neither AFBS nor Therics nor any AFBS-Related Party is obligated to pay any royalties or other payments to third parties with respect to the marketing, sale, distribution, manufacture, license or use of any Intellectual Property, except as set forth on Schedule 2.10.

(d) Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 2.10</u>, AFBS has received and currently holds valid and effective assignments of all inventors' rights to the inventions covered by the Intellectual Property, and no employee, former employee, researcher, former researcher,

investigator, former investigator, or any other person may claim rights to any of inventions covered by the Intellectual Property.

(e) AFBS has the full and proper legal right, capacity, ability, and authority to grant the rights in the Intellectual Property granted in the IP Transfer Agreement, and except with respect to rights in the Assumed IP Contracts, does not hold or own any other rights to technology, trade secrets, know-how, inventions, trademarks, trademark applications, trademark registrations, copyrights, copyright applications, copyright registrations, patent applications, or patents (1) necessary or useful to the full enjoyment and exploitation of the Intellectual Property or (2) otherwise used in connection with the Business.

(f) No patent or patent application within the Intellectual Property is the subject of any pending interference, opposition, cancellation, protest, reexamination, or other challenge or adversarial proceeding.

(g) Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 2.10</u>, no court orders, judgments, or decrees exist that impair or restrict the use, scope, validity, or enforceability of the Intellectual Property and no action, suit, inquiry, proceeding, or investigation is currently pending or threatened before any court, administrative agency, or other governmental body in which such use, scope, validity, or enforceability is being challenged, either directly or indirectly.

(h) To the Knowledge of AFBS, no patents in the Intellectual Property are invalid or unenforceable, and to the Knowledge of AFBS, there are no facts from which it can be inferred that any of the patents in the Intellectual Property are invalid or unenforceable.

(i) The patent set forth in <u>Schedule 2.5</u> and any patent resulting from the reexamination proceeding set forth in <u>Schedule 2.5</u> will not materially adversely impact the scope, validity, or enforceability of any patent rights in the Intellectual Property or the Assumed IP Contracts that are commercially used in the Business.

(j) The patents or applications mentioned, listed, or referenced in Schedule 2.10 and any assignment or ownership disputes related thereto that arise either before or after the Effective Time will not materially adversely impact the scope, validity, or enforceability of the Intellectual Property or the Assumed IP Contracts and will not cause Therics to be in breach of any contract, assignment, agreement, or understanding of any kind.

(k) To the Knowledge of AFBS, no trademark registrations in the Intellectual Property are invalid or unenforceable, and to the Knowledge of AFBS, there are no facts from which it can be inferred that any of the trademark registrations in the Intellectual Property are invalid or unenforceable.

(1) To the Knowledge of AFBS, no pending trademark applications in the Intellectual Property were filed under circumstances that would render any resulting registration invalid or unenforceable, and to the Knowledge of AFBS, there are no facts from which it can be inferred that any registration resulting from any pending trademark application is likely to be invalid or unenforceable.

(m) The Intellectual Property set forth in <u>Schedule 1.9</u> of the IP Transfer Agreement includes all pending trademark applications, issued trademark registrations, pending copyright applications, issued copyright registrations, pending patent applications, and issued patents, relating to the Business, that have been applied for by, or issued in the name of, AFBS or Therics, Inc. anywhere in the World.

(n) To the Knowledge of AFBS, the use of the trademarks set forth in the Scheduled IP in connection with the respective goods and services specified therein will not conflict with or infringe any Proprietary Rights of any third party.

(o) AFBS warrants that, effective as of June 30, 2005 Therics, Inc. changed its corporate name to AFBS, Inc.

2.11 <u>Permits</u>. The Permits listed on Schedule 1.20 of the Transfer Agreement are a true and accurate listing of all approvals, authorizations, registrations and licenses issued by a Governmental Entity required for the Business as of the Closing.

2.12 <u>Inventory</u>. Except for items of Inventory, the value of which does not exceed \$50,000 in the aggregate, the Inventory does not include any damaged, obsolete, excessive or outdated goods.

2.13 <u>Product Liability</u>. To the Knowledge of AFBS, AFBS has no liability (and there is no basis for any present or future action against it giving rise to any liability) arising out of any injury to individuals or property as a result of the ownership, possession, or use of any product manufactured, sold, leased, or delivered by AFBS. No product liability or other tort claims have been made or, to the Knowledge of AFBS, threatened against AFBS relating to the products comprising the products sold by the Business in the past five (5) years. To the Knowledge of AFBS, there are no defects in the design or manufacture of products manufactured or sold by AFBS, or any failure by AFBS to warn, test, inspect or instruct of dangers which could form the basis for a product recall (whether or not at the request of a Governmental Entity) or a cause of action for product liability (including, without limitation, failure to warn, test, inspect or instruct) against AFBS.

2.14 <u>No Untrue Statement</u>. To the Knowledge of AFBS, neither this Agreement (including the Schedules and Exhibits hereto) nor any Ancillary Agreement contains any untrue statement of a material fact.

ARTICLE III REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF RRT

RRT hereby represents and warrants to AFBS at the Closing as follows:

3.1 <u>Organization of TS</u>. TS is a limited liability company duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the State of Ohio and has full limited liability company power and authority to conduct its business as now conducted and to own, use, license and lease its assets and properties as presently conducted. TS is duly qualified to do business

and is in good standing as a foreign limited liability company in all jurisdictions in which the nature of its activities and of its properties (both owned and leased) makes such qualification necessary, except for those jurisdictions in which failure to do so would not have a material adverse effect on TS or its business.

3.2 <u>Authority; Enforceability</u>. This Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements to which RRT is a party, have been executed and delivered by RRT. RRT has full power and capacity to execute and deliver this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements to which he is a party, to perform his obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. This Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements to which he is a party, are the legal, valid and binding obligations of RRT, enforceable against him in accordance with their respective terms, except as the enforceability thereof may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance, reorganization, moratorium or other similar Laws relating to the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and by general principles of equity (whether considered at law or in equity).

3.3 <u>No Violation or Conflict</u>. The execution, delivery and performance by RRT of this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements to which he is a party, do not and will not (a) conflict with or violate any Law, judgment, order or decree binding on RRT or TS, the articles of organization, the TS Operating Agreement or other organizational documents of TS, or any contract or agreement to which RRT or TS is a party or by which either is bound, provided, however, that the forgoing representation and warranty contained in this sentence shall not relate to compliance with the securities laws or "blue sky" laws of any jurisdiction except the United States of America and the state of Ohio or (b) result in any party to any contract or agreement to which RRT or TS is a party having a right of cancellation or termination thereof or right to exercise any purchase, sale or other option or right thereunder. No notice to or consent or approval of any other Person, and no notice to, filing or registration with, or authorization, consent or approval of, any Governmental Entity is necessary or is required to be made or obtained by RRT or TS in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated in this Agreement or the Ancillary Agreements, provided, however, that the forgoing representation and warranty contained in this sentence shall not relate to compliance with the securities laws or "blue sky" laws of any jurisdiction except the United States of America and the state of Ohio.

3.4 <u>No Litigation</u>. Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 3.4</u>, there is no litigation, arbitration proceeding, order, governmental or internal investigation, citation or action of any kind pending or, to the Knowledge of RRT, proposed or threatened, (a) against RRT or TS, (b) relating to the TS Interest, or (c) that seeks restraint, prohibition, damages or other relief in connection with this Agreement or the Ancillary Agreements to which RRT is a party, or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby and, to the Knowledge of RRT, no event has occurred or circumstance exists that may give rise to or serve as a basis for the commencement of any such action. There is no action, suit, proceeding or investigation by TS or RRT currently pending or which TS or RRT intends to initiate.

3.5 <u>Financial Statements</u>. The balance sheets of TS as of December 31, 2004, December 31, 2003 and May 31, 2005, including any notes thereto, which are included in the Financial Statements set forth on <u>Schedule 3.5</u>, are true, complete and correct in all material respects, present fairly the financial condition of TS as of such dates, and were prepared in

accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods indicated. The statements of income of TS for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004, and for the five-month period ended May 31, 2005, which are included in the Financial Statements set forth on <u>Schedule 3.5</u>, are true, complete and correct in all material respects, present fairly TS's statements of income for such periods, and were prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods indicated; *provided, however*, that the balance sheet and statement of income as of and for the five-month period ended May 31, 2005 are subject to normal year-end adjustments and lack footnotes.

3.6 <u>Compliance with Law</u>. To the Knowledge of RRT, the conduct of TS's business and use of its assets and performance of its contracts and agreements does not violate or conflict, and has not violated or conflicted, with any Law. Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 3.6</u>, no investigation or review by any Governmental Entity with respect to TS or RRT is pending or, to the Knowledge of RRT, threatened and no Governmental Entity has indicated to RRT or TS an intention to conduct such investigation or review. To the Knowledge of RRT, TS has all franchises, permits, licenses and any similar authority necessary for the conduct of its business as now being conducted by it, the lack of which could materially and adversely affect the business, properties or financial condition of TS.

3.7 Taxes. All Taxes levied, assessed, or imposed upon TS and its business, assets or properties, have been duly and fully-paid or have been adequately provided for on the Financial Statements. All Tax Returns required to be filed by TS on or prior to the date hereof have been duly and timely filed, and they are correct in all material respects. Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 3.7</u>, there are no agreements, waivers or other arrangements (oral or written) providing for extensions of time with respect to the assessment or collection of unpaid Taxes, nor are there any actions, suits, proceedings, inquiries, investigations or claims of any nature or kind whatsoever now pending or, to the Knowledge of RRT, threatened, against TS with respect to any such Tax Returns or any such Taxes. There are no unpaid Taxes for which RRT is liable, the nonpayment of which is or could become a lien upon, or otherwise could adversely affect, the TS Interest or the use thereof or could cause AFBS to incur any liability. All Taxes that TS has been required by Law to withhold or collect have been duly withheld and collected and have been timely paid to the proper Governmental Entity or are properly held by TS for such payment.

3.8 <u>Affiliated Transactions</u>. Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 3.8</u>, TS has not, in the ordinary course of business or otherwise, purchased, licensed or leased or otherwise acquired any property or assets or obtained any services from, or sold, licensed, leased or otherwise disposed of any property or assets or provided any services to, any employee (except with respect to remuneration for services rendered as an employee of TS), stockholder, officer or director of TS, or Affiliate of any of the foregoing. Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 3.8</u>, TS does not owe any contractual obligation or commitment to any of the foregoing (other than compensation for current services not yet due and payable and reimbursement of expenses arising in the ordinary course of business) and none of the foregoing owes any amount or has any contractual obligation to TS.

3.9 Intellectual Property.

(a) With the exception of the patent applications listed on <u>Schedule 3.9</u>, for which an assignment from one or more inventors is still outstanding, TS is the sole and exclusive owner of, or has a valid license to use all of its patents, trademarks, service marks, trade names, copyrights, trade secrets, licenses, information and other proprietary rights and processes (the "*TS Intellectual Property*"), free and clear of all Liens. The TS Intellectual Property is identified on <u>Schedule 3.9</u>.

(b) To the Knowledge of RRT, no third party is engaging in conduct which conflicts with or infringes in any material way any of such TS intellectual property. To the Knowledge of RRT, the use of the TS intellectual property as currently used does not conflict with or infringe (and the use of the TS Intellectual Property prior to the Closing has not and the use of the TS Intellectual Property will not conflict with or infringe) in any material way any Proprietary Right of any third party, and, except as set forth on <u>Schedule 3.4</u> and <u>Schedule 3.9</u>, there is no claim, suit, action or proceeding pending or, to the Knowledge of RRT, threatened against TS (i) alleging any such conflict or infringement with any third party's Proprietary Rights, or (ii) challenging the ownership, use, validity or enforceability of the TS Intellectual Property.

(c) With the exception of the license agreements listed on <u>Schedule 3.9</u>, TS has not granted, and, to the Knowledge of RRT, there are not outstanding, any options, licenses or agreements of any kind relating to any of the TS Intellectual Property, nor is TS bound by or a party to any option, license or agreement of any kind with respect to any of the TS Intellectual Property, except as set forth on <u>Schedule 3.9</u>. TS is not obligated to pay any royalties or other payments to third parties with respect to the marketing, sale, distribution, manufacture, license or use of the TS Intellectual Property or any other property or rights, except as set forth on <u>Schedule 3.9</u>.

(d) Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 3.9</u>, TS has received and currently holds valid and effective assignments of all inventors' rights to the inventions covered by the TS Intellectual Property, and no employee, former employee, researcher, former researcher, investigator, former investigator, or any other person may claim rights to any of inventions covered by the TS Intellectual Property.

(e) No patent or patent application within the TS Intellectual Property is the subject of any pending interference, opposition, cancellation, protest, reexamination, or other challenge or adversarial proceeding.

(f) Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 3.4</u> and <u>Schedule 3.9</u>, no court orders, judgments, or decrees exist that impair or restrict the use, scope, validity, or enforceability of the TS Intellectual Property, and no action, suit, inquiry, proceeding, or investigation is currently pending or threatened before any court, administrative agency, or other governmental body in which such use, scope, validity, or enforceability is being challenged, either directly or indirectly.

(g) To the Knowledge of RRT, no patents in the TS Intellectual Property are invalid or unenforceable, and to the Knowledge of RRT, there are no facts from which it can be inferred that any of the patents in the TS Intellectual Property are invalid or unenforceable.

3.10 <u>No Material Adverse Change</u>. Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 3.10</u>, since December 31, 2004, TS's business has been operated in the ordinary course and substantially in the same manner as previously conducted, and there has not been any material adverse change in the assets, liabilities, financial condition or results of operations of the business of TS from those reflected in the balance sheet and statements of income of TS as of and for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004, and, to the Knowledge of RRT, no fact or condition exists or to the Knowledge of RRT is contemplated or threatened that will, or might reasonably be expected to, result in any such material adverse change.

3.11 <u>Title; Capitalization</u>.

(a) RRT has good and valid title to the TS Interest, free and clear of all Liens. The membership interests of TS and the owners thereof immediately prior to the Closing are as set forth on <u>Schedule 3.11</u>. Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 3.11</u>, TS has good and valid title to its properties and assets and good title to its leasehold estates, in each case subject to no Lien, other than (a) those resulting from taxes which have not yet become delinquent, and (b) minor liens and encumbrances which do not materially detract from the value of the property subject thereto or materially impair the operations of TS. The transfer of the TS Interest hereunder complies with the terms of the TS Operating Agreement, and upon the closing of the transactions contemplated herein, AFBS shall become a party to the TS Operating Agreement and a member of TS. All facilities, machinery, equipment, fixtures, vehicles and other properties owned, leased or used by TS are in good operating condition and repair (normal wear and tear excepted) and are reasonably fit for use in accordance with TS's past practices. TS is in compliance with all material terms of each lease to which it is a party or is otherwise bound. The number of appreciation units issued and outstanding under the TS Appreciation Rights Plans as of the date hereof does not exceed 326,182.87342.

(b) The membership interests of TS, immediately following the Closing, are set forth on <u>Schedule 3.11</u> (except with respect to the appreciation units issued and outstanding under the TS Appreciation Rights Plans). All of the issued and outstanding membership interests of TS are validly issued, fully-paid and nonassessable, and have not been issued in violation of any federal or state securities Laws provided, however, that the forgoing representation and warranty contained in this sentence shall not relate to compliance with the securities laws or "blue sky" laws of any jurisdiction except the United States of America and the state of Ohio. TS does not presently own or control any equity or debt security or other interest in any Person. TS is not a participant in any joint venture, partnership or similar arrangement.

(c) Except as set forth in the TS Operating Agreement, no membership interests of TS have been issued subject to a repurchase option, put or buy back agreement on the part of TS.

(d) Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 3.11</u>, and except as set forth in the TS Operating Agreement and in the TS Appreciation Rights Plans, there are no outstanding options,

warrants, rights (including unit appreciation, phantom unit, profit participation, conversion and preemptive rights and rights of first refusal) or agreements for the purchase or acquisition from TS of any membership interests in TS, or the acquisition from RRT of the TS Interest or any pledge or encumbrance on any such membership interests.

(e) Except as set forth in the TS Operating Agreement, neither RRT nor TS is a party or subject to any agreement, arrangement, or understanding, and there is no agreement, arrangement or understanding between or among any Persons, which affects, restricts or relates to voting, giving of written consents, dividend rights or transferability of membership interests of TS, including any voting trust agreement or proxy.

3.12 Agreements; Action.

(a) Except as set forth in the TS Operating Agreement, the TS Appreciation Rights Plans and on <u>Schedule 3.12</u>, there are no agreements, understandings, instruments, contracts, proposed transactions, judgments, orders, writs or decrees to which TS is a party or, to the Knowledge of RRT, by which it is bound which may involve (i) future obligations (contingent or otherwise) of, or payments to, TS in excess of \$1,000,000 (other than obligations of, or payments to, TS arising from purchase or sale agreements entered into in the ordin ary course of business), or (ii) the transfer or license of any patent, copyright, trade secret or other proprietary right to or from TS, or (iii) provisions restricting the development, manufacture or distribution of TS's products or services, or (iv) indemnification by TS with respect to infringements of Proprietary Rights (other than indemnification obligations arising from purchase, sale or license agreements entered into in the ordinary course of business).

(b) Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 3.12</u>, since December 31, 2004, TS has not (i) declared or paid any dividends, or authorized or made any distribution upon or with respect to any class or series of its membership interests, (ii) incurred or guaranteed any indebtedness for money borrowed, (iii) made any loans or advances to any person, other than ordinary advances for travel expenses, or (iv) sold, exchanged or otherwise disposed of any material portion of its assets or rights, other than the sale of its inventory in the ordinary course of business.

3.13 <u>Insurance</u>. TS has general commercial, product liability, fire and casualty insurance policies with coverage customary for companies similarly situated to TS.

ARTICLE IV ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS

4.1 <u>Expenses</u>. Except as otherwise provided herein or in the Ancillary Agreements, all fees and expenses incurred by any party hereto in connection with the negotiation and effectuation of the terms and conditions of this Agreement or the Ancillary Agreements and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, including all legal, accounting, financial advisory, consulting, success, brokers and all other fees and expenses of third parties, shall be the obligation of such party.

4.2 <u>Public Disclosure</u>. Unless otherwise required by Law (including federal and state securities Laws and the rules and regulations of the New York Stock Exchange), no disclosure

(whether or not in response to any inquiry) of the existence of any subject matter of, or the terms and conditions of, this Agreement shall be made by any party hereto unless approved by all other parties hereto prior to release; *provided, however*, that such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.

4.3 <u>Additional Documents and Further Assurances; Cooperation</u>. Each party hereto, at the request of the other party hereto, shall use commercially reasonable efforts to execute and deliver such other instruments and do and perform such other acts and things as may be necessary or desirable for effecting completely the transactions contemplated hereby and by the Ancillary Agreements.

4.4 <u>Employee Matters</u>. Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 4.4</u>, AFBS will terminate, as of June 29, 2005, the employment of all of its employees (the "*Employees*"). AFBS shall satisfy all compensation, severance pay, unemployment, COBRA obligations, accrued and unused vacation time and any other obligations and liabilities under applicable Law or otherwise and of any kind or nature with respect to these Employees arising from or in connection with their employment with AFBS or on account of, or in connection with, the termination of their employment with AFBS, including, without limitation, any obligation or liability under any stock option plan of AFBS.

4.5 <u>Transfer Taxes</u>. All transfer, documentary, sales, use, stamp, registration and other such Taxes incurred in connection with the transfer of the TS Interest or the Purchased Units under this Agreement, shall be paid by the party legally responsible therefor when due, and such party will, at its own expense, file all necessary Tax Returns and other documentation with respect to all such transfer, documentary, sales, use, stamp, registration and other such Taxes and fees, and, if required by applicable Law, each of the parties hereto will, and will cause its Affiliates to, join in the execution of any such Tax Returns and other documentation.

4.6 Income Tax Treatment of Transactions. The parties hereto agree that, for income tax purposes, the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are intended to constitute, and shall be treated and reported for income tax purposes by the parties and Therics as constituting, the following: (i) the purchase by RRT (through his purchase of the Purchased Units) of an 82.5% undivided interest in the Contributed Assets, followed immediately by (ii) the contribution by RRT and AFBS of their 82.5% and 17.5% undivided interests in the Contributed Assets to Therics in exchange for membership interests in Therics, and (iii) thereafter, upon transfer of the IP Assets to Therics, the sale of the IP Assets by AFBS to Therics for the obligation of Therics to make the payments to be made pursuant to the Payment Agreement, which obligation (and payments) the parties agree has as a fair market value equal to the amount determined by KPMG LLP, as set forth in a valuation report to be delivered to AFBS by KPMG LLP, and the amount of any accrued liabilities assumed by Therics under the IP Transfer Agreement.

4.7 <u>Put Right</u>. AFBS may, at any time during the period beginning on the fifth anniversary hereof and ending on the sixth anniversary hereof, elect to require RRT to provide it with a "Purchase Offer" (as such term is defined in the TS Operating Agreement) for the TS Interest and thereby initiate a sale of the TS Interest pursuant to Section 8.5(a) of the TS Operating Agreement. The TS Interest will therafter be offered for sale to TS and to all members

of TS other than AFBS in accordance with Section 8.6(a) and Section 8.7 of the TS Operating Agreement. The TS Interest shall then be purchased by either TS or the other members of TS in accordance with the terms of Section 8.7 of the TS Operating Agreement, provided however, that in the event that TS declines to purchase the TS Interest under Section 8.7(a) of the TS Operating Agreement then RRT hereby agrees that he will promptly exercise his purchase option under Section 8.7(b) thereof. In accordance with Section 8.9(a) thereof the purchase price for the TS Interest will be as stated in the Purchase Offer. Notice of its exercise of AFBS's right to have RRT provide it with a Purchase Offer shall be given by AFBS to RRT pursuant to the terms of this Agreement and shall be given at any time during the one-year period described in the first sentence of this Section 4.7. The closing of the transactions cont emplated in this Section 4.7 may occur following the sixth anniversary hereof so long as the notice of AFBS's election to require RRT to provide it with a Purchase Offer is provided to RRT after the fifth anniversary and prior to such sixth anniversary. Upon RRT's receipt of such notice, if at all, then RRT and AFBS shall determine the purchase price of the TS Interest in accordance with the terms of this Section 4.7 and once finally determined it shall be used by RRT in the Purchase Offer and the Purchase Offer shall be issued. The purchase price for the TS Interest shall be equal to the fair market value thereof as of the date notice is provided from AFBS to RRT, as such fair market value is mutually agreed to by AFBS and RRT. If AFBS and RRT cannot agree on the fair market value of the TS Interest, then AFBS and RRT shall select two independent third-party appraisers to determine such fair market value, the cost of such appraisers to be shared equally by RRT and AFBS. The selection of the appraisers shall be by agreement of AFBS and RRT and such appraisers shall be designated to serve as the appraisers for purposes of determining the fair market value of such TS Interest. Upon completion of the appraisals, the appraisers shall deliver copies of their appraisals to AFBS and RRT. If the fair market value of the TS Interest, as set forth in each appraisal, is less than 10% apart, then the fair market value of the TS Interest shall be the average of the fair market value set forth in each appraisal. However, if the fair market value of the TS Interest, as set forth in each appraisal, is more than 10% apart, then the parties shall agree on a third appraiser, the cost of such appraiser to be shared equally by RRT and AFBS, who will then appraise the fair market value of the TS Interest and provide copies of the appraisal to both parties. The fair market value of the TS Interest shall then be the average of the fair market value of the TS Interest in the two appraisal s which are the closest in value. The Purchase Offer shall state that the purchase price for the TS Interest shall be paid, at RRT's option, either (1) in cash on the date of the closing of the purchase, or (2) by delivery of a promissory note of RRT, payable in equal monthly installments over a four year term, bearing interest at the then prevailing prime interest rate and secured by a first priority security interest in such TS Interest.

ARTICLE V SURVIVAL OF REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES; INDEMNIFICATION

5.1 <u>Survival of Representations and Warranties</u>. All of the representations and warranties contained in this Agreement, the Transfer Agreement or the IP Transfer Agreement shall survive the Closing and continue until the one (1) year anniversary of the Closing Date; *provided, however*, that the representations and warranties of AFBS in <u>Section 2.10</u> and the representations and warranties of RRT in <u>Section 3.9</u> shall survive the Closing and continue until the eighteen (18) month anniversary of the Closing Date, and provided further, that the representations and warranties of AFBS in <u>Sections 2.1, 2.2, 2.3</u> and 2.4 and the representations

and warranties of RRT in <u>Sections 3.1, 3.2, 3.3</u> and <u>3.11</u>, shall survive for the applicable statute of limitations period (such period, the "*Survival Period*"). Except in the event an "*Indemnified Party*" (as defined below) makes a written claim for indemnification against an "*Indemnifying Party*" (as defined below) prior to the expiration of the Survival Period, no action or proceeding may be instituted to enforce, or seek damages or other remedies with respect to the breach of, any representation or warranty after such expiration.

5.2 <u>Indemnification</u>.

(a) After the Closing, AFBS and its officers, directors, agents, successors and assigns, as applicable ("AFBS Indemnified Parties") shall be indemnified and held harmless by Therics for any and all liabilities, losses, damages of any kind, claims, costs, expenses, fines, fees, deficiencies, interest, awards, judgments, amounts paid in settlement and penalties (including, without limitation, attorneys', consultants' and experts' fees and expenses and other costs of defending, investigating or settling claims) actually suffered or incurred by them (including, without limitation, in connection with any action brought or otherwise initiated by any of them) (hereinafter, "Loss(es)," which Loss(es) shall be reduced by the full amount of any insurance collected by the Indemnified Party (or any Affiliate thereof) with respect to such claim or the underlying facts under any applicable policy or policies it being understood that all Indemnified Parties will use good faith efforts to file all insurance claims relating to such Losses), arising out of or resulting from:

(i) any inaccuracy in or breach of any representation or warranty of RRT or Therics contained in this Agreement, the Transfer Agreement or the IP Transfer Agreement;

(ii) the Post-Closing Liabilities and the Post-Closing IP Liabilities; or

(iii) any breach of any covenant or agreement made by RRT or Therics in this Agreement, the Transfer Agreement or the IP Transfer Agreement.

(b) After the Closing, Therics and its officers, directors, agents, successors and assigns, as applicable ("*Therics Indemnified Parties*"), shall be indemnified and held harmless by AFBS for any and all Losses arising out of or resulting from:

(i) any inaccuracy in or breach of any representation or warranty of AFBS contained in this Agreement, the Transfer Agreement or the IP Transfer Agreement;

(ii) the Retained Liabilities and the Retained IP Liabilities; or

(iii) any breach of any covenant or agreement made by AFBS in this Agreement, the Transfer Agreement or the IP Transfer Agreement.

(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, the maximum aggregate amount of indemnifiable Losses arising out of or resulting from the causes enumerated in Sections 5.2(a)(i) or 5.2(b)(i) that may be recovered from AFBS Indemnified Parties or Therics, as the case may be, shall not exceed (i) in the case of Losses that may be

recovered from AFBS Indemnified Parties, \$500,000 and (ii) in the case of Losses that may be recovered from Therics Indemnified Parties, \$500,000.

(d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, no obligation of Therics or AFBS, as the case may be (each, an "*Indemnifying Party*"), with respect to any indemnifiable Loss otherwise payable by such Indemnifying Party under Section 5.2(a)(i) or 5.2(b)(i), shall be payable until such time as all indemnifiable Losses payable to an AFBS Indemnified Party or Therics Indemnified Party, as the case may be, by such Indemnifying Party on account of such Loss shall exceed \$25,000, at which time such Indemnified Party shall be entitled to the full amount of Losses (excluding such \$25,000 amount).

5.3 <u>Third-Party Claim Indemnification Procedures</u>.

(a) The obligations and liabilities of an Indemnifying Party under this <u>Article V</u> with respect to Losses arising from claims of any third party which are subject to the indemnification provided for in this <u>Article V</u> ("*Third-Party Claims*") shall be governed by and contingent upon the terms and conditions set forth in this <u>Section 5.3</u>. If any Person entitled to indemnification pursuant to <u>Section 5.2(a)</u> or <u>5.2(b)</u> (an "*Indemnified Party*") shall receive notice of any Third-Party Claim, the Indemnified Party shall give the Indemnifying Party notice of such Third-Party Claim promptly upon the receipt by the Indemnified Party of such notice; *provided, however*, that the failure to provide such notice shall not release the Indemnifying Party from any of its respective obligations under this <u>Article V</u> except to the extent that the Indemnifying Party is materially prejudiced by such failure. The notice of claim shall describe in reasonable detail the facts known to the Indemnified Party giving rise to such indemnification claim, and the amount or good faith estimate of the amount arising therefrom.

(h)The Indemnifying Party shall be entitled to assume and control the defense of a Third-Party Claim at its expense and through counsel of its choice (such counsel to be reasonably acceptable to the Indemnified Party) if it gives notice of its intention to do so to the Indemnified Party within fifteen (15) days after the receipt of such notice from the Indemnified Party; provided, however, if there exists a conflict of interest that would make it inappropriate for the same counsel to represent both the Indemnified Party and the Indemnifying Party, then the Indemnified Party shall be entitled to retain its own counsel, in each jurisdiction for which counsel is required, at the expense of the Indemnifying Party. In the event that the Indemnifying Party exercises the right to undertake any such defense against any such Third-Party Claim as provided above, the Indemnifying Party shall conduct the defense of the Third-Party Claim actively and diligently and the Indemnified Party shall cooperate with the Indemnifying Party in such defense and make available to the Indemnifying Party at the Indemnifying Party's expense, all witnesses, pertinent records, materials and information in the Indemnified Party's possession or under the Indemnified Party's control relating thereto as is reasonably required by the Indemnifying Party. Similarly, in the event the Indemnified Party is, directly or indirectly, conducting the defense against any such Third-Party Claim, the Indemnifying Party shall cooperate with the Indemnified Party in such defense and make available to the Indemnified Party, at the Indemnifying Party's expense, all such witnesses, records, materials and information in the Indemnifying Party's possession or under the Indemnifying Party's control relating thereto as is reasonably required by the Indemnified Party. No such Third-Party Claim may be settled

by any party conducting the defense against such claim without the prior written consent of the other party, which consent shall not be unreasonably delayed or withheld.

5.4 <u>Exclusive Remedy</u>. Except with respect to claims based on fraud, the terms and conditions of this <u>Article V</u> shall apply to and shall be the exclusive remedy of any Indemnified Party or any party to this Agreement with respect to Losses arising out of or resulting from inaccuracies in or breaches of representations and warranties contained in this Agreement, the Transfer Agreement or the IP Transfer Agreement.

5.5 <u>Allocation of Adjusted Annual License Maintenance Fee</u>. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in this Agreement or any of the Ancillary Agreements, AFBS shall be liable for payment of the Adjusted Annual License Maintenance Fee and Therics shall be liable to reimburse AFBS for five-sixths of the Adjusted Annual License Maintenance Fee not later than January 31, 2006.

5.6 <u>Delivery of Certain Information</u>. At the written request of AFBS within three months after the Closing Date, Therics shall deliver the hard drive(s) of those servers that contain the Great Plains Software and a usable copy of such hard drives.

ARTICLE VI MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

6.1 <u>Notices</u>. All notices, requests and other communications hereunder must be in writing and will be deemed to have been duly given only if delivered personally or by facsimile transmission against facsimile confirmation or mailed by a nationally recognized overnight courier prepaid, to the parties at the following addresses or facsimile numbers:

If to RRT or Therics:

Randall R. Theken 283 East Waterloo Road Akron, Ohio 44319 Facsimile: (330) 773-7697

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Stark & Knoll Co., L.P.A. Attention: Aaron G. Lepp, Esq. 76 South Main Street, Suite 1512 Akron, Ohio 44308-1824 Facsimile: (330) 376-6237

If to AFBS:

AFBS, Inc. c/o Tredegar Corporation Attention: Chief Financial Officer 1100 Boulders Parkway Richmond, Virginia 23225 Facsimile: (804) 330-1010

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Hunton & Williams LLP Riverfront Plaza, East Tower 951 East Byrd Street Richmond, Virginia 23219 Facsimile No.: (804) 343-4600 Attn: C. Porter Vaughan, III, Esq. and R. Mason Bayler, Jr., Esq.

All such notices, requests and other communications will (a) if delivered personally to the address as provided in this <u>Section 6.1</u>, be deemed given upon delivery, (b) if delivered by facsimile transmission to the facsimile number as provided for in this <u>Section 6.1</u>, be deemed given upon facsimile confirmation, and (c) if delivered by overnight courier to the address as provided in this <u>Section 6.1</u>, be deemed given on the earlier of the first business day following the date sent by such overnight courier or upon receipt (in each case regardless of whether such notice, request or other communication is received by any other Person to whom a copy of such notice is to be delivered pursuant to this <u>Section 6.1</u>). Any party from time to time may change its address, facsimile number or other information for the purpose of notices to that party by giving notice specifying such change to the other party hereto.

6.2 <u>Amendment</u>. This Agreement may be amended by the parties hereto at any time by execution of an instrument in writing signed on behalf of each of the parties hereto.

6.3 <u>Entire Agreement</u>. This Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby constitute the entire agreement among the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede all prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral, among the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof.

6.4 <u>Waiver</u>. Any term or condition of this Agreement may be waived at any time by the party that is entitled to the benefit thereof, but no such waiver shall be effective unless set forth in a written instrument duly executed by or on behalf of the party waiving such term or condition. No waiver by any party of any term or condition of this Agreement, in any one or more instances, shall be deemed to be or construed as a waiver of the same or any other term or condition of this Agreement on any future occasion. All remedies, either under this Agreement or by Law or otherwise afforded, will be cumulative and not alternative.

6.5 <u>Third-Party Beneficiaries</u>. Except as expressly provided herein, the terms and provisions of this Agreement are intended solely for the benefit of each party hereto and their respective successors or permitted assigns, and it is not the intention of the parties to confer third-party beneficiary rights, and this Agreement does not confer any such rights, upon any other Person other than any Person entitled to indemnity under <u>Article V</u>.

6.6 <u>No Assignment; Binding Effect</u>. Neither this Agreement nor any right, interest or obligation hereunder may be assigned by any party without the prior written consent of the other party and any attempt to do so will be void. Subject to the preceding sentence, this Agreement is binding upon, inures to the benefit of and is enforceable by the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.

6.7 <u>Headings</u>. The headings and table of contents used in this Agreement have been inserted for convenience of reference only and do not define or limit the provisions hereof.

6.8 <u>Invalid Provisions</u>. If any provision of this Agreement is held to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable under any present or future Law, and if the rights or obligations of any party hereto under this Agreement will not be materially and adversely affected thereby, (a) such provision will be fully severable, (b) this Agreement will be construed and enforced as if such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision had never comprised a part hereof, (c) the remaining provisions of this Agreement will remain in full force and effect and will not be affected by the illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision or by its severance herefrom and (d) in lieu of such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision, there will be added automatically as a part of this Agreement a legal, valid and enforceable provision as similar in terms to such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision as may be possible.

6.9 <u>Governing Law</u>.

This Agreement, any Ancillary Agreements and any other closing documents shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Ohio as applied to contracts entered into by Ohio residents and performed entirely in Ohio, without giving effect to its principles or rules regarding conflicts of laws, other than such principles directing application of the laws of Ohio.

6.10 <u>WAIVER OF TRIAL BY JURY</u>. IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING ARISING HEREFROM, THE PARTIES HERETO CONSENT TO TRIAL WITHOUT A JURY IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM BROUGHT BY ANY PARTY HERETO AGAINST THE OTHER OR THEIR SUCCESSORS IN RESPECT OF ANY MATTER ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT, REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF ACTION OR PROCEEDING.

6.11 <u>Construction</u>. The parties hereto agree that this Agreement is the product of negotiation between sophisticated parties and individuals, all of whom were represented by counsel, and each of whom had an opportunity to participate in and did participate in, the drafting of each provision hereof. Accordingly, ambiguities in this Agreement, if any, shall not be construed strictly or in favor of or against any party hereto, but rather shall be given a fair and reasonable construction without regard to the rule of contra proferentem.

6.12 <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original, but all of which together will constitute one and the same instrument.

6.13 <u>Specific Performance</u>. The parties hereto agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached. It is agreed that the parties shall be entitled to an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions hereof in any court of the United States or any state having jurisdiction, this being in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity. Nothing in <u>Article V</u> shall be construed or interpreted to limit this <u>Section 6.13</u>.

ARTICLE VII DEFINITIONS

7.1 <u>Definitions</u>. As used in this Agreement, the following defined terms shall have the meanings indicated below:

"AFBS" shall have the meaning set forth in the Preamble of this Agreement.

"AFBS Indemnified Parties" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.2(a)

"<u>AFBS-Related Party</u>" shall mean any "Affiliate" of AFBS or any predecessor in interest to AFBS (including but not limited to Therics, Inc.).

"Affiliate" means, as applied to any Person, any other Person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by or under common control with, that Person. For the purposes of this definition, "control" (including with correlative meanings, the terms "controlling", "controlled by", and "under common control with") as applied to any Person, means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of that Person, whether through ownership of voting securities or by contract or otherwise.

"<u>Agreement</u>" means this Unit Purchase Agreement, including (unless the context otherwise requires) the Exhibits, the Schedules and the certificates and instruments delivered in connection herewith, or incorporated by reference, as the same may be amended or supplemented from time to time in accordance with the terms hereof.

"<u>Ancillary Agreements</u>" shall mean, collectively, (a) the Transfer Agreement, (b) the IP Transfer Agreement, (c) the Operating Agreement, (d) the TS Operating Agreement, (e) the Sublease, and (f) the Payment Agreement.

"Adjusted Annual License Maintenance Fee" means the reduced annual license maintenance fee of \$40,000 due on June 30, 2005 set forth in that certain Patent License Agreement, dated as of June 1, 1994, by and between the Massachusetts Institute of Technology and Therics, Inc., as amended by the First through Eight Amendments thereto.

"Assumed Contracts" shall have the meaning set forth in the Transfer Agreement.

"Assumed IP Contracts" shall have the meaning set forth in the IP Transfer Agreement.

"Assumed IP Liabilities" shall have the meaning set forth in the IP Transfer Agreement.

"Business" shall mean the business and operations of AFBS as operated and conducted prior to and up through the Effective Time.

"Closing" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.2(a).

"Closing Date" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.2(a).

"Consents" shall have the meaning set forth in the Transfer Agreement.

"Contributed Assets" shall have the meaning set forth in the Transfer Agreement.

"Distribution Agreement" shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals of this Agreement.

"Effective Time" shall mean 11:58 p.m. (Eastern Daylight Time) on the Closing Date.

"Equipment" shall have the meaning set forth in the Transfer Agreement.

"Employees" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.4.

"<u>Financial Statements</u>" shall mean the unaudited balance sheets and statements of income of TS as of and for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004 and as of and for the five months ended May 31, 2005, including the notes thereto (for 2003 and 2004), which are set forth on <u>Schedule 3.5</u>.

"<u>GAAP</u>" means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, as in effect from time to time.

"<u>Great Plains Software</u>" shall mean any of the software identified in Items 86 through 92 on <u>Schedule 1.14</u> of the Transfer Agreement.

"Governmental Entity" shall have the meaning set forth in the Transfer Agreement.

"Indemnified Party" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.3(a).

"Indemnifying Party" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.2(d).

"Intellectual Property" shall have the meaning set forth in the IP Transfer Agreement.

"Internal Revenue Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

"Inventory" shall have the meaning set forth in the Transfer Agreement.

"IP Assets" shall have the meaning set forth in the IP Transfer Agreement.

"IP Consents" shall have the meaning set forth in the IP Transfer Agreement.

"IP Transfer Agreement" shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals of this Agreement.

"Knowledge of RRT" shall mean the actual knowledge of Randall R. Theken.

"<u>Knowledge of AFBS</u>" shall mean the actual knowledge of Thomas S. Stribling, Peter A. Materna, or Anne M. Nolan.

"Law" or "Laws" shall have the meaning set forth in the Transfer Agreement.

"Liens" shall have the meaning set forth in the Transfer Agreement.

"Loss(es)" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.2(a)

"Operating Agreement" shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals of this Agreement.

"Payment Agreement" shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals of this Agreement.

"Permits" shall have the meaning set forth in the Transfer Agreement.

"<u>Person</u>" means any natural person, corporation, general partnership, limited partnership, limited liability company or partnership, proprietorship, other business organization, trust, union, association or Governmental Entity.

"Post-Closing Liabilities" shall have the meaning set forth in the Transfer Agreement.

"Post-Closing IP Liabilities" shall have the meaning set forth in the IP Transfer Agreement.

"<u>Proprietary Rights</u>" means the legal rights, property rights, and other interests evidenced by or embodied in (1) any idea, design, concept, technique, invention, discovery, or improvement, regardless of patentability, but including patents, patent applications, trade secrets, and know-how; (2) any work of authorship, regardless of copyrightability, but including copyrights and any moral rights recognized by law; (3) any brand name, logo, trade dress, designation of source, trademark, service mark, or trade name; and (4) any other similar rights, in each case on a worldwide basis.

"Purchased Units" shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals of this Agreement.

"Retained IP Liabilities" shall have the meaning set forth in the IP Transfer Agreement.

"Retained Liabilities" shall have the meaning set forth in the Transfer Agreement.

"RRT" shall have the meaning set forth in the Preamble of this Agreement.

"Scheduled IP" shall have the meaning provided in the IP Transfer Agreement.

"Sublease" shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals of this Agreement.

"Survival Period" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.1

"Tax" or "Taxes" shall have the meaning provided in the Transfer Agreement.

"<u>Tax Returns</u>" means any return, declaration, report, claim for refund, or information return or statement relating to Taxes, including any schedule or attachment thereto, and including any amendment thereof.

"Therics" shall have the meaning set forth in the Preamble of this Agreement.

"Therics Indemnified Party" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.2(b)

"Third-Party Claims" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.3(a)

"Transfer Agreement" shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals of this Agreement.

"TS" shall have meaning set forth in the Recitals of this Agreement.

"<u>TS Appreciation Rights Plans</u>" means the following: (i) the TS Appreciation Rights Plan dated December 31, 2003; (ii) the TS Appreciation Rights Plan for Employees and Distributors dated January 1, 2005; and (iii) the TS Appreciation Rights Plan for Consultants dated January 1, 2005, as amended March 11, 2005.

"TS Intellectual Property" shall have meaning set forth in Section 3.9.

"TS Interest" shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals of this Agreement.

"<u>TS Operating Agreement</u>" shall mean the Amended and Restated Operating Agreement of TS, dated as of December 20, 2004, as the same is modified and amended by the following: (i) a certain Addendum to Certain Agreements for Theken Spine, LLC effective December 20, 2004; (ii) a certain Addendum #2 to Certain Agreements for Theken Spine, LLC effective December 20, 2004; (iii) a certain Amendment to Addendum #2 to Certain Agreements for Theken Spine, LLC effective December 20, 2004; and (iv) a certain Amendment to the Theken Spine, LLC Amended and Restated Operating Agreement dated April 1, 2005.

7.2 <u>Construction</u>.

Unless the context of this Agreement otherwise requires, (i) words of any gender include each other gender and the neuter, (ii) words using the singular or plural number also include the plural or singular number, respectively, (iii) the terms "hereof," "herein," "hereby" and derivative or similar words refer to this entire Agreement as a whole and not to any particular Article, Section or other subdivision, (iv) the terms "Article" or "Section" or other subdivision refer to the specified Article, Section or other subdivision of the body of this Agreement, (v) the words "include," "includes" and "including" shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase "without limitation," and (vi) when a reference is made in this Agreement to Schedules or Exhibits, such reference shall be to a Schedule or an Exhibit to this Agreement unless otherwise indicated. All accounting terms used herein and not expressly defined herein shall have the meanings given to them under GAAP.

[SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, AFBS, Therics and RRT, have caused this Agreement to be signed as of the date first written above.

AFBS, INC.

By: /s/ W. Hildebrandt Surgner, Jr.

W. Hildebrandt Surgner, Jr. Vice President

THERICS, LLC

By: Theken Orthopaedic Inc. Its: Manager

By: /s/ Randall R. Theken

Randall R. Theken President

/s/ Randall R. Theken

RANDALL R. THEKEN

EXECUTION COPY

Exhibit 10.20

PAYMENT AGREEMENT

BY AND BETWEEN

AFBS, INC.

AND

THERICS, LLC

June 30, 2005

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS

1.1.	AFBS.	1	
1.2.	Affiliate.	1	
1.3.	End User.	1	
1.4.	IP Transfer Agreement.	2	
1.5.	Improvements.	2	
1.6.	Intellectual Property.	2	
1.7.	Net Sales.	2	
1.8.	Person.	2	
1.9.	Private Label Distributor.	3	
1.10.	Private Label Sales.	3	
1.11.	<u>RRT.</u>	3	
1.12.	<u>RRT Entity.</u>	3	
1.13.	<u>Subsidiary.</u>	3	
1.14.	Therics.	3	
1.15.	Therics-Derived Process.	3	
1.16.	Therics-Derived Product.	3	
1.17.	Therics Technology.	4	
ARTICLE II PAYMENTS			
2.1.	Payments.	4	
2.2.	Reports and Records.	4	
2.3.	No Ownership or Liens.	5	
2.5.		5	
ARTICLE III MISCELLANEOUS		6	
3.1.	Entire Agreement; Amendment.	6	
3.2.	Governing Law.	6	
3.3.	Notices.	6	
3.4.	Counterparts; Headings.	7	
3.5.	Binding Effect.	7	
3.6.	Severability.	8	
3.7.	Specific Performance.	8	

i

PAYMENT AGREEMENT

This PAYMENT AGREEMENT (the "*Agreement*"), effective as of June 30, 2005, by and between AFBS, INC., a Virginia corporation (f/k/a "Therics, Inc.") ("*AFBS*"), and THERICS, LLC, an Ohio limited liability company ("*Therics*"), recites and provides as follows:

RECITALS

WHEREAS, AFBS and Therics have entered into an Intellectual Property Transfer Agreement of even date herewith (the "*IP Transfer Agreement*"); and

WHEREAS, Therics desires to make payments to AFBS in consideration for the IP Transfer Agreement during the periods and under the terms and conditions herein specified; and

WHEREAS, AFBS is willing to accept such payments under the terms and conditions, herein specified.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the Recitals and of the mutual covenants, conditions and agreements set forth herein and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, it hereby is agreed that:

AGREEMENT

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS

When used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings specified:

1.1. <u>AFBS</u>.

"AFBS" shall have the meaning provided in the Recitals of this Agreement.

1.2. <u>Affiliate</u>

"Affiliate" shall mean any Person that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with, the Person specified. The term "control" (including the terms "controlling," "controlled by" and "under common control with") means the possession, direct or indirect, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of at least 50% of the voting securities, by contract or otherwise.

1.3. End User.

"End User" shall mean the ultimate consumer of products and/or services identified in this Agreement, e.g. the hospital, trauma center, doctor or the like, but not including patients.

1.4. IP Transfer Agreement.

"IP Transfer Agreement" shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals of this Agreement.

1.5. <u>Improvements</u>.

"Improvement" shall mean any enhancement or modification of the Therics Technology that is developed by or for, invented or acquired by, or comes under the control of Therics.

1.6. Intellectual Property.

"Intellectual Property" shall have the meaning set forth in the IP Transfer Agreement.

1.7. Net Sales.

"Net Sales" shall mean, the gross amount collected by Therics for sales of any Therics-Derived Product, or Therics-Derived Process less the following:

(a) customary trade, quantity, or cash discounts and/or rebates to the extent actually allowed and taken after collection;

(b) amounts repaid or credited by reason of rejection, refund or return;

(c) any taxes or other governmental charges levied on the production, sale, transportation, delivery, or use of any such Therics-Derived Product or Therics-Derived Process which is paid by or on behalf of Therics or any Subsidiary or any of their respective licensees; and

(d) freight allowances.

No deductions shall be made (i) for commissions paid to individuals whether they be with independent distributors or stocking distributors or regularly employed by and on the payroll of Therics, its Affiliates (other than a RRT Entity), Subsidiaries or licensees, or (ii) for cost of collections. Net Sales shall occur on the date of collection by Therics.

Non-monetary consideration shall <u>not</u> be accepted by Therics or any Subsidiary or any of their respective licensees for any Therics-Derived Products or Therics-Derived Processes without the prior written consent of the AFBS.

1.8. Person.

"Person" shall mean and any individual, proprietorship, trust, estate, partnership, joint venture, association, company, corporation, limited liability company or other entity.

1.9. Private Label Distributor

"Private Label Distributor" shall mean an entity (other than an RRT Entity) that distributes Therics-Derived Products or Therics-Derived Process through its own distribution network pursuant to a distribution agreement between Therics and that entity.

1.10. Private Label Sales.

"Private Label Sales" shall mean the Net Sales collected by Therics which are generated from sales to a Private Label Distributor other than an RRT Entity. Private Label Sales shall occur on the date of collection by Therics.

Non-monetary consideration shall <u>not</u> be accepted for any Therics-Derived Products or Therics-Derived Processes without the prior written consent of AFBS.

1.11. <u>RRT</u>.

"RRT" shall mean Randall R. Theken, a resident of the State of Ohio.

1.12. <u>RRT Entity</u>.

"RRT Entity" shall mean RRT, Theken Spine, LLC, an Ohio limited liability company, Theken Orthopaedic, Inc., an Ohio corporation, Theken Disc LLC, an Ohio limited liability company, and any other Affiliate of RRT.

1.13. <u>Subsidiary</u>.

"Subsidiary" shall mean any corporation or other entity with respect to which Therics has the direct or indirect right to vote shares representing 50% or more of the votes eligible to be cast in the election of directors or managers of such entity.

1.14. Therics.

"Therics" shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals of this Agreement.

1.15. Therics-Derived Process.

"Therics-Derived Process" shall mean any process of Therics containing, comprising or derived from the Therics Technology in any form alone, or in combination with, one or more other process steps of Therics, and any Improvements thereto, but not including any process of making a Therics-Derived Product.

1.16. Therics-Derived Product.

"Therics-Derived Product" shall mean any Therics product containing, comprising or derived from the Therics Technology in any form alone, or in combination with, one or more other products of Therics, and any Improvements thereto.

1.17. Therics Technology.

"Therics Technology" shall mean the inventions, patents, patent applications, trade secrets, know-how, and developments that form a part of, or derived from, the Intellectual Property.

ARTICLE II PAYMENTS

2.1. Payments.

Payments shall be made by Therics to AFBS within 30 days following the end of each calendar quarter; (provided, however, that Therics shall not be in default of this payment obligation until written notice of the same has been provided by AFBS to Therics of the default and providing Therics five (5) business days after receipt of such notice to cure) in the following amounts:

(a) Until the fifth anniversary hereof, for each calendar quarter, an amount equal to 10% of Net Sales collected by Therics which are generated from sales to End-Users, whether by (i) Therics' independent distributors, (ii) Therics' stocking distributors, or (iii) Therics, its Affiliates (other than an RRT Entity), Subsidiaries and licensees.

(b) During the period beginning on the fifth anniversary hereof and ending on the tenth anniversary hereof, for each calendar quarter, an amount equal to 5% of Net Sales collected by Therics which are generated from sales to End-Users, whether by (i) Therics' independent distributors, (ii) Therics' stocking distributors, or (iii) Therics, its Affiliates (other than an RRT Entity), Subsidiaries and licensees.

(c) Until the fifth anniversary hereof, for each calendar quarter, an amount equal to 10% of Net Sales collected by Therics which are generated from sales to any RRT Entity by Therics, its Affiliates (other than an RRT Entity), Subsidiaries and licensees.

(d) During the period beginning on the fifth anniversary hereof, and ending on the tenth anniversary hereof, for each calendar quarter, an amount equal to 5% of Net Sales collected by Therics which are generated from sales to any RRT Entity by Therics, its Affiliates (other than an RRT Entity), Subsidiaries and licensees.

(e) Until the tenth anniversary hereof, for each calendar quarter, an amount equal to 2% of the Private Label Sales.

2.2. <u>Reports and Records</u>.

(a) <u>Frequency of Reports</u>. Therics shall deliver reports to AFBS, at the time of payments due according to <u>Section 2.1</u>, containing information concerning the relevant activity period. The information shall be as further described in <u>Section 2.2(b)</u>.

(b) <u>Content of Reports</u>. Each report delivered by Therics to AFBS shall contain at least the following information for the relevant period:

(i) the number of Therics-Derived Products sold;

(ii) a description of Therics-Derived Processes performed as may be pertinent to a payment accounting hereunder;

(iii) the gross price charged and amounts collected for each Therics-Derived Product sold, and the gross price charged and amounts collected for each Therics-Derived Process performed;

(iv) calculation of Net Sales and Private Label Sales for the applicable reporting period or portion thereof, including a listing of applicable deductions; and

 $(v) \qquad \qquad \text{if no amounts are due to AFBS under } \underline{Section \ 2.1} \text{ for any reporting period} \\ \text{or portion thereof, the report shall so state.}$

(c) <u>Records</u>. Therics shall maintain complete and accurate records relating to the rights and obligations under this Agreement and any amounts payable to AFBS in relation to this Agreement, which records shall contain sufficient information to permit AFBS to confirm the accuracy of any reports delivered to AFBS and compliance in other respects with this Agreement. Therics shall retain such records for at least three (3) years following the end of the calendar year to which they pertain, during which time AFBS, or AFBS's appointed agents, shall have the right, at AFBS' expense but with the good faith cooperation of Therics, to inspect such records during normal business hours to verify any reports and payments made or compliance in other respects under this Agreement. In the event that any audit performed under this Section reveals an underpayment in excess of five percent (5%), then the parties shall negotiate in good faith to resolve any such discrepancy. If the parties are unable to agree on a resolution after 30 days then they shall mutually agree on an independent third party to review the matter and make a final binding determination as to the amount of the discrepancy, if any. The cost of such third party shall be paid by Therics.

2.3. <u>No Ownership or Liens</u>.

AFBS acknowledges and agrees that: (a) it is receiving the payments under <u>Section 2.1</u> of this Agreement in exchange for its sale of certain intellectual property to Therics pursuant to the terms of the IP Transfer Agreement; (b) despite the deferred payment structure of this Agreement AFBS has no encumbrance, mortgage, charge, claim, restriction, pledge, security interest or imposition of any kind or nature on, in or with respect to any assets or collateral of Therics, including, without limitation, the intellectual property and assets purchased by Therics pursuant to the IP Transfer Agreement; (c) Therics is the owner of all intellectual property and assets purchased by Therics pursuant to the IP Transfer Agreement and AFBS has no interest of any kind in the same; and (d) AFBS's sole, exclusive and only remedy under this Agreement for payment defaults shall be the recovery of any cash payments owed to it under <u>Section 2.1</u> and in no event shall it be entitled to any remedies (equitable, specific performance or otherwise) for payment defaults which provide it any right, interest or claim in the intellectual property and assets purchased by Therics pursuant to the IP Transfer Agreement.

ARTICLE III MISCELLANEOUS

3.1. Entire Agreement; Amendment.

This Agreement and the documents referred to herein and to be delivered pursuant hereto (including the IP Transfer Agreement, a certain Unit Purchase Agreement between RRT, Therics AFBS of even date herewith and a certain Transfer Agreement between AFBS and Therics dated June 30, 2005) constitute the entire agreement between the parties pertaining to the subject matter hereof, and supersede all prior and contemporaneous agreements, understandings, negotiations and discussions of the parties, whether oral or written, and there are no warranties, representations or other agreements between the parties in connection with the subject matter hereof, except as specifically set forth herein or therein. No amendment, supplement, modification, waiver or termination of this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing by the party to be bound thereby. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed or shall constitute a waiver of any other provision of this Agreement, whether or not similar, nor shall such waiver constitute a continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly provided.

3.2. <u>Governing Law</u>.

This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Ohio as applied to contracts entered into by Ohio residents and performed entirely in Ohio, without giving effect to its principles or rules regarding conflicts of laws, other than such principles directing application of the laws of Ohio.

3.3. Notices.

All communications, notices and disclosures required or permitted by this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given when delivered personally or by messenger or one (1) business day after delivery by reliable overnight delivery service, or when mailed by registered or certified United States mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, or when received via telecopy, telex or other electronic transmission, in all cases addressed to the person for whom it is intended at its or his address set forth below or to such other address as a party shall have designated by notice in writing to the other party in the manner provided by this <u>Section 3.3</u>:

If to AFBS:	AFBS, Inc. c/o Tredegar Corporation Attention: Chief Financial Officer 1100 Boulders Parkway Richmond, Virginia 23225 Facsimile: (804) 330-1010
With a copy (which shall	Hunton & Williams LLP
not constitute notice) to:	Attention: C. Porter Vaughan, III, Esq. and R. Mason Bayler, Jr., Esq. Riverfront Plaza, East Tower 951 East Byrd Street Richmond, Virginia 23219-4074 Facsimile: (804) 788-8218
If to Therics:	Therics, LLC Attention: Randall R. Theken 283 East Waterloo Road Akron, Ohio 44319 Facsimile: (330) 773-7697
With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:	Stark & Knoll Co., L.P.A. Attention: Aaron G. Lepp, Esq. 76 South Main Street, Suite 1512 Akron, Ohio 44308-1824 Facsimile: (330) 376-6237

3.4. Counterparts; Headings.

This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same Agreement. The Table of Contents and Article and Section headings in this Agreement are inserted for convenience of reference only and shall not constitute a part hereof.

3.5. Binding Effect.

This Agreement is binding upon, inures to the benefit of and is enforceable by the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns; *provided however*, that AFBS may not transfer or assign this Agreement to any non-Affiliate of AFBS without the written consent of Therics, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld; and *provided further*, that AFBS shall provide Therics with written notice of: (i) any "change of control" with respect to AFBS within five (5) business days of any such "change of control" (the term "change of control" shall mean a merger, consolidation or sale of 50% or more of the voting securities of AFBS); and (ii) any transfer or assignment to an Affiliate of AFBS within five (5) business days of such assignment.

3.6. <u>Severability</u>.

If any provision, clause or part of this Agreement, or the application thereof under certain circumstances, is held invalid, the remainder of this Agreement, or the application of such provision, clause or part under other circumstances, shall not be affected thereby.

3.7. <u>Specific Performance</u>.

Therics and AFBS hereby agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with the terms hereof and that the parties shall be entitled to specific performance of the terms hereof, in addition to any other remedy at law or equity.

[Signature Page Follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each party hereto has caused this Payment Agreement to be executed in its name and, as applicable, by a duly authorized officer as of the day and year first above written.

AFBS, INC.

By: /s/ W. Hildebrandt Surgner, Jr.

W. Hildebrandt Surgner, Jr. Vice President

THERICS, LLC By: Theken Orthopaedic Inc. Its: Manager

By: /s/ Randall R. Theken

Randall R. Theken President

NEWS NEWS NEWS



Exhibit 99.1

Tredegar Corporation Corporate Communications 1100 Boulders Parkway Richmond, Virginia 23225 E-mail: invest@tredegar.com Web Site: www.tredegar.com Contact: Mitzi S. Reynolds Phone: 804/330-1134 Fax: 804/330-1177 E-mail: mitzireynolds@tredegar.com

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE

TREDEGAR SELLS THERICS

RICHMOND, Va., July 1, 2005 — Tredegar Corporation (NYSE:TG) announced that it has sold or assigned substantially all of the assets of Therics, Inc., a developer and marketer of orthobiologic products, to a new company controlled and managed by Randall R. Theken. The new company, Therics, LLC, is part of a family of orthopedic medical device companies founded by Theken which includes Theken Spine, LLC. In addition to receiving potential future payments on the sale of Therics' products, Tredegar has retained a 17.5% equity interest in Therics, LLC and has received a 3.5% interest in Theken Spine.

Norman A. Scher, Tredegar's president and chief executive officer said: "This agreement eliminates annual operating losses of about \$7 million for Tredegar and creates the opportunity for potential long-term value from the Therics technology. It also enables Therics to continue developing its technology under the leadership of Randy Theken, who we believe has an impressive track record over the last 10 years of creating and operating orthopedic companies."

Tredegar expects the transaction to result in a second-quarter charge of approximately \$10 million (\$6.5 million or 17 cents per share after taxes). The charge includes asset impairments of \$6 million, lease-related losses of \$3 million, and severance and other transaction-related costs of \$1 million. For the last 12 months ended March 31, 2005, Therics had an operating loss of \$9.1 million.

The Theken family of companies (www.theken.com), based in Akron, Ohio, includes Theken Spine, LLC, a designer, developer, manufacturer and distributor of spinal fusion implants; Theken Disc, LLC, a research and development company focused on motion preservation devices for the spine such as a microelectronic artificial replacement spinal disc; and Theken Orthopaedic, Inc., a medical device company that provides FDA testing services to major medical device companies in need of FDA approval.

-- more --

TREDEGAR SELLS THERICS, page 2

Based in Richmond, Va., Tredegar Corporation is a global manufacturer of plastic films and aluminum extrusions.

Contact:

Theken Spine: Randall R. Theken 330-773-7677 www.theken.com

FORWARD-LOOKING AND CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS

The words "believe," "hope," "expect," "are likely," and similar expressions identify "forward-looking" statements within the meaning of the "safe harbor" provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such statements involve a number of risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in the forward-looking statements, including without limitation the following:

The existing orthobiologic product line that will be sold by Therics, LLC is in the initial stages of commercialization. There can be no assurance that any of these products can be brought to market successfully. The commercialization of new future products will require significant research and development, preclinical and clinical testing, and regulatory approvals. Our ability to realize any profits from our relationship with Therics, LLC will depend on its ability to internally develop preclinical, clinical, regulatory, manufacturing and sales, distribution and marketing capabilities, or enter into arrangements with third parties to provide those functions. The inability to develop or contract for these capabilities would significantly impair the entity's ability to develop and commercialize products and thus our ability to realize any future profits.

We do not have day-to-day control over the activities of Therics, LLC. Accordingly, our ability to receive any revenue from the product candidates covered by these agreements will be dependent on the efforts of Therics, LLC.

Tredegar does not undertake to update any forward-looking statement made in this press release to reflect any change in management's expectations or any change in conditions, assumptions or circumstances on which such statements are based.

###